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Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of the board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of Yue Da International Holdings Limited (the 
“Company”), I am pleased to present to the shareholders the results of the Company and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”) for the year ended 31st December, 2023 (the “Current Year”).

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Total revenue for the Current Year amounted to RMB88,487,000 which represented the revenue of the 
factoring operations and decreased by 13.8% when compared with the year ended 31st December, 2022 
(the “Previous Year”). Audited profit and total comprehensive income attributable to the owners of the 
Company for the Current Year amounted to RMB15,192,000 (the Previous Year: RMB30,543,000) and basic 
earnings per share for the Current Year amounted to RMB1.30 cents (the Previous Year: RMB2.61 cents).

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

During the Current Year, the Group was principally engaged in factoring related business (the “Factoring 
Operations”), which offers factoring services, accounts receivable management and collection services and 
accounts receivable consultancy services.

Traditional Factoring

As at 31st December, 2023, the gross financing receivables has increased by 19.4% as compared to 31st 
December, 2022. The overall revenue increased by 15.3%.

Communications Factoring

As at 31st December, 2023, under Communications Factoring business, outstanding principal financing 
receivables amounted to RMB187,602,000 (2022: RMB403,658,000). The Group has commenced 
communications factoring services with three leading communications operation providers in the People’s 
Republic of China (the “PRC”). The Communications Factoring business has the nature of large number 
of customers with small size of loan amounts per each customer. It is positioned as the main source of 
growth of the business growth in the foreseeable future.
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Chairman’s Statement

PROSPECTS

Looking forward to 2024, the Group will focus on the factoring business in the future. After the pandemic 
crisis, the recovery of the world economy is slow which will remain a great challenge to the economy and 
our operations in 2024. As at the date of this report, we have not experienced any significant default in 
repayment of principal, interest and fee income from our customers. We will remain on high alert about 
the impact of the slow recovery in rest of the world on our operations and take any necessary measures to 
mitigate the impact. The Directors endeavor to seek more business opportunities in the financial industry as 
well as other industries to diversify the Group’s existing business stream to enhance the long-term benefits 
of the Group and the shareholders as a whole.

APPRECIATION

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to the Directors, management personnel 
and all staff for their contributions to the development of the Group. Likewise, I would like to express my 
appreciation to the shareholders for their support. The Group is fully committed to do its best to bring 
higher returns to shareholders.

By order of the Board

Wu Yinghua
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20th March, 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The Factoring Operations of Group recorded an operating revenue of RMB88,487,000 for the Current 
Year (Previous Year: RMB102,618,000). The audited profit and total comprehensive income attributable 
to owners of the Company for the Current Year is RMB15,192,000 (Previous Year: RMB30,543,000) and 
basic earnings per share for the Current Year is RMB1.30 cents (Previous Year: RMB2.61 cents).

The decrease in profit and total comprehensive income is mainly due to the recovery of the consumer 
market in China not being up to expectations. In order to reduce the operational risk, the Group adjusted 
the proportions of different factoring related businesses resulting in: (1) increase in income from traditional 
factoring business and decrease in income from communications factoring business, (2) a loss on 
remeasurement of financial guarantee contracts recorded in the Current Year compared to the gain for 
the Previous Year, (3) a net reversal of impairment losses under expected credit loss model recorded in 
the Current Year compared to the net losses recognised for the Previous Year, and (4) decrease in income 
tax expense.

DIVIDENDS

A special dividend in respect of the Current Year of HK0.84 cents per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount 
of RMB8,896,000 was approved by the Board on 14th December, 2023 and was subsequently paid in 
January 2024. Subsequent to the end of reporting period, a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31st 
December, 2023 of HK0.43 cents (2022: nil) per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount of RMB4,558,000 
(2022: Nil), has been proposed by the Directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders in the 
forthcoming general meeting. Together with the special dividend of HK0.84 cents per ordinary share paid 
to the shareholders in January 2024, the total dividend for the year ended 31st December, 2023 amounts 
to HK1.27 cents per ordinary share (2022: Nil). The final dividend, if approved by the shareholders at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting, is expected to be payable on or around 19th June, 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overview

The Group is principally engaged in Factoring Operations. During the Current Year, Factoring Operations 
realised an operating revenue of RMB88,487,000.

Factoring Operations

The Company will continue the Factoring Operations through Yueda (Shenzhen) Commercial Factoring Co., 
Ltd., (“Yueda Commercial Factoring”, a company established in the PRC and a subsidiary of the Company, 
which principal business is, among other things, commercial factoring).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The following table summarises the operating performance of Factoring Operations of the Group:

Business

Gross financing 
receivables as at
31st December, Interest income Service income

Management fee 
income

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000         

Traditional Factoring 454,800 380,801 23,380 21,880 – – 7,629 5,003
Communications Factoring 187,602 403,658 – – 57,478 75,735 – –         

642,402 784,459 23,380 21,880 57,478 75,735 7,629 5,003
         

Total average rate of return for the Current Year is 12.4% (the Previous Year: 14.01%).

Traditional Factoring

As at 31st December, 2023, under Traditional Factoring business, total principal financing receivables 
amounted to approximately RMB454,800,000 (2022: RMB380,801,000), and recorded interest income 
and management fee income of approximately RMB23,380,000 (the Previous Year: RMB21,880,000) and 
RMB7,629,000 (the Previous Year: RMB5,003,000) respectively during the Current Year.

Being a state-owned enterprise in Jiangsu province, the Group mainly sourced its customers from contacts of 
its existing business network within the Yangtze River Delta Region. The business development department 
of the Group takes the main role in customer sourcing and coverage. Most of the customers of the Group’s 
Traditional Factoring business consist of sizable companies, particularly state-owned enterprises, which 
are relatively stable and financially more resilient than other entities.

The Group adopts an organisation structure that is commonly used by banking institutions and other 
factoring services providers – general manager office, financing team, risk management department team, 
business development team, product development team and administration. As at 31st December, 2023, 
the Factoring Operations has approximately 18 employees and is led by an experienced management 
team, including Mr. Pan Mingfeng, being an executive director of the Company, and the general manager 
of Yueda Commercial Factoring, who has more than 12 years’ experience in marketing, risk control and 
management, and has previously worked for several renowned enterprises in the financial sector in the PRC. 
He is responsible for leading the promotion of several innovative factoring projects of Yueda Commercial 
Factoring, including the Communications Factoring.

Yueda Commercial Factoring conducts its factoring business in the PRC within the scope of its business 
license. Yueda Commercial Factoring (as the factor) provides accounts receivable management and 
collection services to its customers (as seller) in return for contractual interest and management fee income 
payments with comprehensive rates of return ranging from approximately 7.9% to 8.9%, composed of 
interest rate per annum (approximately 5.9% to 7.5%), and factoring management fee income per annum 
(approximately 1.4% to 2.0%).
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Similar to other factoring services providers in the PRC, the Group maintains rigorous risk control measures 
to reduce risks associated with the Factoring Operations. To minimise risk exposure in factoring business, 
the Group intends to focus on providing factoring services to customers with sound financial position and 
reputable shareholders, in particular, state-owned listed entities with stable cashflow and relatively stable 
financial position.

Prior to the provision of factoring services and approval of the grant of revolving financing credit facilities to 
its factories, the factoring business team will conduct due diligence on the customer and the risk compliance 
department will perform a risk assessment on the proposed transaction. The due diligence report and risk 
assessment report together with the business application form approved by, among others, the heads of 
factoring business department and risk compliance department and the General Manager, will be submitted 
to the Review Committee of Yueda Commercial Factoring, comprising five members including the Chairman, 
the directors and the chief risk officer of Yueda Commercial Factoring, for approval. No factoring contracts 
will be prepared unless approvals from the Review Committee of Yueda Commercial Factoring is obtained. 
The release of the factoring financing shall be approved by the head of factoring business department, the 
Financial Controller, the General Manager and the Chairman of Yueda Commercial Factoring.

The total gross principal financing receivables under Traditional Factoring business, in an aggregate amount 
of approximately RMB454,800,000 as at 31st December, 2023 (2022: RMB380,801,000), were not past 
due. As at 31st January, 2023, all of the Traditional Factoring receivables are secured by receivables 
from the customers amounting to approximately RMB508,880,000 (2022: RMB507,435,000). Save as 
the receivables from the customers, the Traditional Factoring receivables are not secured by any other 
collaterals. The following table sets forth the gross principal financing receivables amount of Traditional 
Factoring business categorised by industry and the relevant number of customers as of 31st December, 
2023 and 2022:

Gross principal financing 
receivables % Number of customers

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000       

Properties development 44,800 170,801 9.9 44.9 1 5
Food processing 50,000 50,000 11.0 13.1 1 1
Trading of metal materials 50,000 100,000 11.0 26.3 1 2
Trading of photovoltaic 
 accessories – 50,000 – 13.1 – 1
Engineering construction 310,000 10,000 68.1 2.6 7 1       

454,800 380,801 100.0 100.0 10 10
       

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to Traditional Factoring receivables, credit limits and credit 
terms granted to customers are approved by delegated officers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding Traditional Factoring receivables on an 
individual basis to minimise its credit risk. The management has a credit policy in place and the exposures 
to the credit risk are monitored on an ongoing basis. The policy includes evaluation of collectability and 
aging analysis of the factoring receivables based on management’s judgement on creditworthiness of the 
borrowers and the guarantors, collaterals and past collection history.

Communications Factoring

During the Current Year, under Communications Factoring business, service fee income of approximately 
RMB57,478,000 (the Previous Year: RMB75,735,000) is recorded. As at 31st December, 2023, there 
were approximately 453,000 End Customers (as defined below) (2022: 969,000) with outstanding gross 
financing receivables with the Group in an aggregate amount of approximately RMB187,602,000 (2022: 
RMB403,658,000), of which approximately RMB14,524,000 (2022: RMB19,501,000) is fully secured by 
bank deposits from individual customers and approximately RMB125,378,000 (2022: RMB262,194,000) 
is guaranteed by guarantors. With the small amount of receivables (of approximately RMB2 to RMB6,833 
(2022: RMB8 to RMB9,533)) per End Customer, no analysis of the five largest End Customers is presented.

Under the Communications Factoring business, the Group would provide factoring services to the franchised 
store suppliers of the suppliers of communications operation (“Suppliers”) and the Suppliers will transfer their 
accounts receivable (“Accounts Receivable”) to the Group which will arise when the Suppliers’ customers 
(“End Customers”) purchase mobile phones and/or other products from the Suppliers. By utilising the 
factoring services of the Group, the End Customers may pay for the mobile phones and/or other products 
by instalments.

The Group has cooperated with and conducted the Communications Factoring business through the 
payment clearing and settlement platform (“Payment Platform”) of some third-party payment institutions 
licensed in the PRC to offer a payment clearing and settlement platform. To the best knowledge of the 
Company, these third-party payment institutions are the group member of the communications operation 
services providers in the PRC. As a result, there are a number of Suppliers maintaining a settlement account 
at the Payment Platform and the End Customers can make payment to the Group through the Payment 
Platform. By cooperating with third-party payment institutions, the Group can on a mass scale reach out 
to and seek business opportunities with the Suppliers who are in need of factoring services.

Taking into consideration of the special nature of Communications Factoring business (i.e. a large number 
of End Customers with small amount of receivables per End Customer), the management reviewed the 
breakdown of the financing receivables and considered the significance of the aggregate outstanding amount 
in the financial statements of the Group, and identified that the most significant risk to the Communications 
Factoring business is default in payment by End Customers. The Group believes that such risk is mainly 
driven by two sources, namely malicious fraud by End Customers and termination of communications 
services by such End Customers. The Group minimises such risks by implementing the following control 
procedures during the inception of new End Customers.
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Suppliers verify the identity of new End Customers and establish payment channel with End Customers’ 
bank accounts. Such information is provided to the professional technology service companies for credit 
assessment that is operated by both artificial Intelligence (“A.I.”) and manual resources.

The A.I. system assess the historical default percentage of End Customers for each Supplier to screen 
out any unusual transactions. Besides, on the End Customers side, the A.I. system checks whether there 
is any overdue payment history, whether there are several outstanding balances owed by the same End 
Customer, whether they are blacklisted by other institutions, and other anomalies in the potential customer’s 
credit history. The A.I. system then generates a default possibility in respect of each End Customer and 
those with high default possibility will be rejected.

The professional technology service companies also contact the emergency contact persons of End 
Customers manually to verify the other information of End Customers. Further, the professional technology 
service companies contact the End Customers manually after provision of factoring services to confirm 
whether the End Customers have been notified with the contractual relationship with the Group and notify 
them of their rights and obligations. A mobile text message will be sent to End Customers to remind them 
of the payment due date. Finally, the professional technology service companies will appoint professional 
and legal debt collectors to collect overdue payments and take legal action when necessary.

In order to ensure the professional technology service companies’ quality control in adhering to the Group’s 
policy, the Group keeps a back-up copy of all the data of the End Customers. The Group would verify 
such data before provision of services. Credit limits are set for each of the Suppliers to minimise the risk 
of malicious fraud by End Customers. In addition, the Group performs on-site inspection of professional 
technology service companies from time to time to ensure the credit assessment procedures are properly 
followed.

Factoring financing loss will be borne partly or wholly by professional technology service companies, 
depending on the detailed arrangement with each individual professional technology service company. 
Based on this arrangement, there will be incentive for these professional technology service companies 
to assess credit risk carefully to reduce the occurrence of overdue Accounts Receivables and collect the 
overdue Accounts Receivables.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Ageing analysis and impairment for traditional factoring and communications factoring businesses

The ageing analysis of the outstanding principal financing receivables from the date of granting the relevant 
factoring services as at 31st December, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

Traditional
Factoring business

Communications
Factoring business Total

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000       

Aged with one year 454,800 347,654 134,005 226,153 588,805 573,807
Aged over one year 
 but within two years – – 47,307 177,505 47,307 177,505
Aged over two years – 33,147 6,290 – 6,290 33,147       

454,800 380,801 187,602 403,658 642,402 784,459
       

Note: The outstanding balance as at 31st December, 2023 and 2022 was not due.

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets 
including factoring receivables. Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default 
events over the expected life of the relevant financial instruments. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) 
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible within 
12 months after the reporting date.
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The movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of factoring receivables during the Current Year 
and Previous Year were as follows:

12m ECL (not-credit impaired)
Traditional

Factoring business
Communications

Factoring business Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

As at 1st January, 2022 678 12,275 12,953
Changes due to financial instruments recognised 
 as at 1st January, 2022:
 –  Impairment losses reversed (589) (8,081) (8,670)
 –  Impairment losses recognised – 2,417 2,417
New financial assets originated or purchased 918 8,323 9,241    

As at 31st December, 2022 1,007 14,934 15,941

Changes due to financial instruments recognised 
 as at 1st January, 2023:
 – Impairment losses reversed (1,007) (10,072) (11,079)
 – Impairment losses recognised – 198 198
New financial assets originated or purchased 1,119 1,244 2,363    

As at 31st December, 2023 1,119 6,304 7,423
    

The basis of impairment assessment of Traditional Factoring business

The Group adopts individual assessment in estimating ECL factoring receivables for Traditional Factoring 
business. The credit losses expectations are based on the Group’s historical loss experience, collaterals 
and guarantees that are integral to the contractual terms, financial condition of borrowers for the probability 
of default and loss given default, as well as forward-looking information.

Management performs ongoing credit evaluations of individual customers’ financial condition. These 
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payments when due and current ability to 
pay, and take into account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the economic 
environment. The Group has policies to limit the credit exposure on receivables by taking into account 
the availability of guarantee from third parties and getting payment guarantee. The settlement patterns of 
customers are regularly monitored by the Group. As at 31st December, 2023, the expected loss rate for 
Traditional Factoring receivables of RMB454,800,000 (2022: RMB380,801,000) is approximately 0.25% 
(2022: 0.26%).
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The basis of impairment assessment of Communications Factoring business

The Group adopts collective assessment in estimating ECL on factoring receivables for Communications 
Factoring business. The Group takes into consideration of internal credit rating of various debtors, which are 
grouped based on historical collection records, collaterals and forward-looking information that is reasonable, 
supportable and available without undue costs or effort. At the end of each reporting period, the historical 
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are considered. The 
default rates would be adjusted according to the actual loss rate incurred regarding the Communications 
Factoring receivables and the change of the global default rate published by the international credit-rating 
agency updated each year, both of which are affected by the change in the macroeconomic environment. 

The following table provides information on the exposure to credit risk for Communications Factoring 
receivables which are assessed on a collective basis with 12m ECL. End Customers with gross financing 
receivables under 12m ECL are in an aggregate amount of approximately RMB187,602,000 as at 31st 
December, 2023 (2022: RMB403,658,000).

Internal credit rating Average loss rate

31st December, 2023
Communications

Factoring receivables Average loss rate

31st December, 2022 
Communications 

Factoring receivables
RMB’000 RMB’000     

Low risk 3.30% 177,292 3.64% 387,880
Watch List 4.41% 10,310 5.10% 15,778     

187,602 403,658
     

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates of the debtors and are 
adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is 
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

Business plan

Regarding the Group’s business plan, besides the further development in the existing factoring financial 
services, accounts receivable management and accounts receivable collection services, the Group will 
implement further development within Factoring Operations, namely (i) existing factoring financial services, 
(ii) communications factoring, and (iii) exploring potential investment opportunities.

Existing factoring financial services:

The Group believes that, being a stated-owned enterprise, having state-owned enterprises as its major 
customers will provide certain level of risk control on recovery and quality control on collaterals. In view of 
that, the Group intends to continue to utilise its network of state-owned enterprises in the PRC to expand 
its factoring business.

The Group has identified several potential new customers for its traditional factoring business. Due to 
slowdown of economy of China, due diligence on potential new customers was more stringent in order to 
improve the overall quality of customer base.
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Communications factoring:

The Group has established cooperation arrangements with three leading communications operation 
providers in the PRC in respect of the provision of communications factoring services. The income rate of 
the communications factoring services is higher than that of traditional factoring.

Exploring potential investment opportunities:

As at the date hereof, the Group is exploring potential investment opportunities which can further supplement 
and diversify the existing business of the Group. The Group is still exploring and has not identified any 
potential target, and no definitive agreement has been entered into in relation thereto.

Funding requirements:

The Group will continue to utilise its internal resources, bank loans and other borrowings to develop the 
Factoring Operations. On top of the existing banking facilities, several banking facilities are being negotiated. 
The Group will continue to consider the possibilities of using asset-backed financing arrangement in the 
future as another funding alternative.

Prospects

Looking forward to 2024, the Group will focus on the factoring business in the future. After the pandemic 
crisis, the recovery of the world economy is slow which will remain a great challenge to the economy and 
our operations in 2024. As at the date of this report, we have not experienced any significant default in 
repayment of principal, interest and fee income from our customers. We will remain on high alert about 
the impact of the slow recovery in rest of the world on our operations and take any necessary measures to 
mitigate the impact. The Directors endeavor to seek more business opportunities in the financial industry as 
well as other industries to diversify the Group’s existing business stream to enhance the long-term benefits 
of the Group and the shareholders as a whole.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

To be eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 13th May, 2024 to 17th May, 2024, both days 
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares in the Company will be registered. In order to determine 
the identity of the shareholders of the Company who are entitled to attend and vote at the annual general 
meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company to be held on 17th May, 2024, all transfer of shares in the Company 
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s 
branch shares registrar in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Registrars Limited at Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor, 
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 10th May, 2024.

Notice of the AGM will be published and despatched to the shareholders of the Company in the manner 
as required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(“Stock Exchange”) (“Listing Rules”) in due course.
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To qualify for the proposed final dividend

For the purpose of determining the shareholders who are entitled to receive the proposed final dividend 
for the year ended 31st December, 2023, the register of members of the Company will be closed from 3rd 
June, 2024 to 6th June, 2024, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares in the Company 
will be registered. Subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting, 
the final dividend will be payable to the shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of 
the Company on 6th June, 2024. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfers of shares 
in the Company accompanied by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with 
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Registrars Limited at Shops 1712–16, 
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 
31st May, 2024.

FINANCIAL POSITION

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31st December, 2023, the Group’s current assets were RMB626,564,000 (2022: RMB667,107,000), 
of which RMB41,061,000 (2022: RMB26,267,000) were cash and cash equivalents. As at 31st December, 
2023, the net asset value of the Group amounted to RMB431,698,000, representing an increase of 
approximately 1.5% as compared to RMB425,402,000 in 2022. The gearing ratio (total liabilities/total 
assets) of the Group was approximately 41.2% (2022: 53.0%).

As at 31st December, 2023, the share capital of the Company was RMB105,965,000 (2022: RMB105,965,000). 
The Group’s reserves were RMB325,733,000 (2022: RMB319,437,000). As at 31st December, 2023, the 
Group had total current liabilities of RMB246,220,000 (2022: RMB396,354,000), mainly comprising other 
payables and liabilities, amounts due to related parties, bank and other borrowings and obligations arising 
from asset-backed financing arrangements. The total non-current liabilities of the Group amounted to 
RMB56,301,000 (2022: RMB83,366,000), which mainly represented obligations arising from asset-backed 
financing arrangements, lease liabilities and deferred tax liabilities.

Capital structure of the Group

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which include amounts due to related parties, 
bank and other borrowings, obligations arising from asset-backed financing arrangements, net of cash 
and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital 
and various reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider 
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on the recommendations of 
the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.
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Borrowings

In the Previous Year, the Group entered into several asset-backed financing arrangements (the “Financing 
Arrangements”). The Financing Arrangements involved establishment of special purpose asset-backed 
vehicles through issuing agents or special purpose trust administered by trustees. The principal activities 
of the Group are provision of factoring related business. The proceeds from the entrance into the Financing 
Arrangements are principally used as general working capital of factoring related business of the Group. 
The Board believes that the entrance into the Financing Arrangements can widen the fund-raising channels 
of the Group to access low-cost capital, which in turn is used to improve the financing structure of the 
Group and promote its operating activities and investments activities. The Directors are of the view that 
the terms of the entrance into the Financing Arrangements are fair and reasonable and are in the interests 
of the Company and the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

As at 31st December, 2023, bank and other borrowings and obligations arising from asset-backed financing 
arrangements amounted to RMB50,000,000 (2022: RMB90,000,000) and RMB118,585,000 (2022: 
RMB280,529,000) respectively. As at 31st December, 2023, bank and other borrowings and obligations 
arising from asset-backed financing arrangements are denominated in Renminbi.

Details of the bank and other borrowings and Financing Arrangements are set out in Notes 21 and 22 to 
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are mainly denominated in Renminbi and Hong 
Kong dollars. During the Current Year, most of the transactions were denominated and settled in Renminbi. 
The Group was not engaged in any hedging by financial instruments in relation to exchange rate risk. 
However, the Group will closely monitor the fluctuation in exchange rate and will take necessary measures 
to minimise the impact arising from adverse currency fluctuation.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group’s credit facilities were secured by the Group’s factoring receivables of RMB50,000,000 (2022: 
RMB100,000,000) in aggregate as at 31st December, 2023 and the Group has the contractual obligations 
to transfer the cashflows relating to the Group’s communications factoring receivables of RMB97,225,000 
as at 31st December, 2023 (2022: RMB291,373,000) under asset-backed financing arrangements.

Apart from above, the Group did not have any other guarantees and charges nor any other material 
contingent liabilities as at 31st December, 2023 (2022: nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL, AND FUTURE 
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any significant investment, material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates 
or joint ventures during the Current Year.

The Group had no future plans for material investments or acquisitions of capital assets as at 31st December, 
2023.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31st December, 2023, the Group had a total of approximately 25 employees (who were located in 
Hong Kong and the PRC), engaged in management, administration and business factoring operations. The 
management reviewed the remuneration policy regularly on the basis of performance and experience of 
the employees as well as the prevailing industry practices. Social insurance contributions are made by the 
Group for its PRC employees in accordance with the relevant PRC regulations. Insurance and mandatory 
provident fund schemes are also maintained for its Hong Kong staff. During the Current Year, the Group 
provided various training courses on relevant business or skills for its management and staff at different levels.

As at 31st December, 2023, the Group has 28% of female employees. The Group seeks to achieve the 
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to the talents, skills, 
regional and industry experience, background, gender and other qualities. The Group is committed to 
improving greater gender diversity and wishes to achieve at least 40% employees by the end of 2025.

PRINCIPAL RISKS

The Group’s financial position, business results and prospects would be affected by a number of risks. 
The Factoring Operations are exposed to credit risk, interest rate risk, operational risk and liquidity risk. 
Besides, several assets and liabilities of the Group are denominated in currencies other than Renminbi 
and are susceptible to foreign exchange risk. The Group’s principal risks and uncertainties and the risk 
management measures are set out on page 56 of the Annual Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PRACTICE

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the environment and communities. The Group 
endeavours to comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and production safety.

DIVIDEND POLICY

It is the Board’s intention to distribute any excess balance by way of dividend to the extent permitted by 
law, the Memorandum and the Articles. Dividends will only be paid to the extent that they are covered by 
net profit from operations. Distribution will be made annually after the financial statements of the Company 
are approved by the shareholders as appear to the Board to be justified by the position of the Company. 
Distribution will be made in Hong Kong dollars.

As the Company does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution ratio, the declaration of future 
dividends will be subject to the decision by the Board and will depend on, among other things, the earnings, 
financial condition, cash requirements and availability of funds to meet the financial covenants of the Group’s 
bank loans (if applicable) and any other factors that our Directors may consider relevant.
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The Company, as a listed company in Hong Kong, is committed to enhance its corporate governance level.

The Board and the management of the Company are responsible for the formulation and strict implementation 
of a sound corporate governance structure and code, so as to improve the accountability system and 
transparency of the Company, protect the interests of and create value for shareholders.

In the opinion of the Board, the Group has complied with all of the code provisions of the Corporate 
Governance Code (“Code”) as set out in Part 2 of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the Current 
Year, except that (i) the Chairman of the Board was not able to attend the annual general meeting of the 
Company held on 19th May, 2023 (the “2022 AGM”) and the extraordinary general meetings of the Company 
held on 6th December, 2023 (the “December EGM”) (deviated from Code F.2.2) due to other business 
commitment. Nevertheless, one of the independent non-executive Directors attended and acted as the 
chairman of the 2022 AGM and one of the non-executive Directors attended and acted as the chairman of 
the December EGM; and (ii) Mr. Li Biao and Mr. Yu Guangshan, being non-executive Directors, were not 
able to attend the 2022 AGM and December EGM (deviated from Code C.1.6) due to their other business 
commitments. Nevertheless, each of these Directors has passed their opinion to the chairman of the 2022 
AGM and December EGM before their commencement. All non-executive Directors are subject to retirement 
and rotation once every three years in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the Code, an issuer should be headed by an effective board of directors which should assume 
responsibility for leadership and control of the company and be collectively responsible for promoting 
the success of the company by directing and supervising the company’s affairs. The Board should make 
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company. The Board is committed to the improvement of the 
corporate governance system of the Company and is ultimately responsible for formulating and implementing 
strategies and the operating results of the Company. The Board is charged with promoting the success 
of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs in a responsible and effective manner. The Board 
steers and oversees the management of the Company such as, establishing strategic direction and setting 
long term objectives of the Company, monitoring performance of management, protecting and maximising 
the interests of the Company and its shareholders, and reviewing and monitoring of annual budget against 
actual performances and results. The Board has delegated management, under the leadership of the Chief 
Executive, with authorities and responsibilities for the day-to-day operations and administration of the 
Group and has specified a schedule of matters which should be reserved to the Board and which should 
be delegated to management. All policy matters of the Group and material transactions with conflict of 
interests, considered as being notifiable or connected transactions within the meaning ascribed to by the 
Listing Rules, should be reserved to the decision of the Board.
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The main duties of the Board include:

1) to determine the strategies, objectives, policies and business plans of the Company and monitor the 
implementation of the strategies of the Company;

2) to monitor and control the operating and financial performance of the Company and establish 
appropriate risk management policies and procedures to ensure the implementation of the Company’s 
strategic objectives;

3) to supervise the performance of the senior management and determine their remuneration; and

4) to perfect the corporate governance structure and facilitate communication with shareholders.

The Company has established internal guidelines to clarify matters which require approval of the Board. 
Under the guidelines, the Board’s approval is required for significant financing programs of the Company, 
such as investment plans, merger and acquisition or disposal of major assets, major capital expenditure 
and external borrowings.

All Directors are committed to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group. Directors 
have also disclosed to the Company the number and nature of offices held in Hong Kong or overseas 
listed public companies or organisations and other significant commitments, with the identity of the public 
companies or organisations. Directors are reminded to notify the Company in a timely manner of any 
changes of such information.

The Board will conduct meetings on a regular basis and on an ad hoc basis so far as the business required. 
The Directors may take independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in carrying out their 
functions. The Board is supplied with relevant information by the senior management pertaining to matters to 
be brought before the Board for decision as well as reports relating to operational and financial performance 
of the Group before each regular Board meeting. At least 14 days notice of a regular Board meeting is 
given to all Directors to give them the opportunity to attend. Board papers are dispatched to the Directors 
at least 3 days before the meeting to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the papers and be 
adequately prepared for the meeting.

The Board is also committed to perform the following tasks as set out in the Code A.2.1:

1) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

2) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of directors and senior 
management;

3) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements;
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4) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual of employees and 
directors; and

5) to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance 
Report.

To indemnify Directors and officers of the Company against all costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities 
incurred by them in the execution of and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto, the Company has 
arranged insurance for this purpose.

The Board has set up three standing committees, namely, the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), 
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee (“Nomination 
Committee”) with specific duties, power and written terms of reference. The chairman of each committee 
reports to the Board regularly and advises on matters for discussion when necessary. Attendance of each 
of the Directors to meetings of the Board and each of the committees during the Current Year was set 
out as follows:

General
Meeting Board

Audit
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Nomination
Committee      

Number of meetings held 2 8 2 1 1

Attendance

Chairman and non-executive 
 Director
Liu Debing 0 1 0 0 1

Non-executive Directors
Li Biao 0 1 0 0 0
Hu Huaimin 2 3 0 0 0
Yu Guangshan 0 2 0 0 0

Executive Directors
Pan Mingfeng 1 8 0 1 0
Wu Shengquan 1 6 0 0 0
Bai Zhaoxiang 0 1 0 0 0

Independent non-executive 
 Directors
Liu Yongping 2 3 2 1 1
Cheung Ting Kee 2 3 2 0 0
Zhang Yan 1 1 0 0 0
Qian Ying 1 1 1 1 1
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Minutes of the Board and committees meetings are recorded in appropriate details and are kept by the 
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”). Draft minutes are circulated to the Director 
for comment within reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is always open for Directors’ 
inspection.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with the Independent non- executive 
Directors without the presence of other Directors during the Current Year.

The Company also maintains on its website (www.yueda.com.hk) an updated list of its Directors identifying 
their roles and functions and whether they are independent non-executive Directors. Members of the Board, 
with different backgrounds and possessing different expertise, have extensive experience in corporate 
planning and operation management, capital market, financial accounting, auditing and so forth as a whole.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation 
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the 
independent non-executive Directors are independent despite the fact that Dr. Liu Yongping has served 
as an independent non-executive director of the Company for more than nine years.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family and other material/relevant relationship) among 
the members of the Board (including between the Chairman and the Chief Executive).

The Company encourages the Directors to participate in the continuous professional development programme 
to develop and update their knowledge and skills to ensure that they are equipped with all information and 
can continue to contribute to the Board when required. The Company is responsible for the costs of such 
programme. During the Current Year, all Directors are committed to comply with Code C.1.4 and have 
attended training on topics such as update on the Listing Rules.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal and comprehensive induction on the first occasion of 
his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company 
and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory 
requirements.
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According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of training received by the Directors during 
the Current Year is as follows:

Types of continuous professional
development activities  

Mr. Liu Debing A, B
Mr. Li Biao A, B
Mr. Hu Huaimin A, B
Mr. Yu Guangshan A, B
Mr. Bai Zhaoxiang A, B
Mr. Pan Mingfeng A, B
Mr. Wu Shengquan A, B
Dr. Liu Yongping A, B
Mr. Cheung Ting Kee A, B
Ms. Qian Ying A, B
Mr. Zhang Yan A, B

Notes:

A Attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forum

B Reading materials relevant to the latest development of business of the Group, the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory 
requirement

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The roles of chairman and chief executive are separated to ensure a balance of power and authority and 
that power is not concentrated in any one individual.

The functions of the Chairman and the chief executive of the Company are clearly segregated. The present 
Chairman of the Board, Mr. Wu Yinghua, is responsible for providing leadership for the Board. His main 
responsibility is to ensure that the Board works effectively and that all key and appropriate issues are 
discussed by it in a timely manner. The Chairman is also responsible for ensuring that good corporate 
governance practices and procedures are established and followed. The Chairman is also responsible for 
ensuring appropriate steps be taken to provide effective communication with the shareholders and that 
the views of shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole.

The present Chief Executive of the Company, Dr. Wong Mun Kin is responsible for the overall business 
operations of the Group focusing on strategic planning and business development.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the 
“Model Code”) as provided in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. All Directors of the Company, in response 
to the specific enquiries made by the Company, confirmed that they have complied with the requirements 
set out in the Model Code throughout the Current Year.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

At the date of this report, each of Mr. Li Biao and Mr. Hu Huaimin has been appointed as a non-executive 
Director whereas each of Dr. Liu Yongping, Mr. Cheung Ting Kee and Ms. Zhang Yan has been appointed 
as an independent non-executive Director. The non-executive Directors are not appointed for a specific 
term, however, all non-executive Directors are subject to retirement and rotation once every three years in 
accordance with the Company’s articles of association.

Ms. Zhang Yan has obtained legal advice from a firm of solicitors qualified to advise on Hong Kong law as 
regards the requirements under the Listing Rules that are applicable to her as a director of a listed issuer 
and the possible consequences of making a false declaration or giving false information to the Stock 
Exchange on 4th September, 2023.

Directors’ responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for overseeing the preparation of the financial statements of 
the Group for the Current Year. The Directors ensure the financial statements of the Group be prepared so 
as to give a true and fair view of the Group’s state of affairs, the results and cash flow for the Current Year, 
and on a going concern basis in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting 
and financial reporting standards.

During the Current Year, Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s performance, 
position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

The Directors also ensure timely publication of the Group financial statements and aim to present a 
clear, balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s performance and position through all its 
publications and communications to the public and is aware of the requirements under the applicable rules 
and regulations about timely disclosure of inside information.
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The report from the auditor of the Company regarding their responsibilities and opinion on the financial 
statements of the Group for the Current Year is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” to this annual 
report. The Board has taken steps to ensure the continued objectivity and independence of the external 
auditor. For the Current Year, the remuneration paid/payable to the external auditor of the Company were 
approximately HK$1,330,000 and HK$1,390,000 in respect of the audit and non audit services provided to 
the Group respectively. Details of the significant non audit services and the related amount are as follows:

Professional services rendered in connection with preliminary announcement of results HK$20,000 

Professional services rendered in connection with connected transactions HK$50,000

Professional services rendered in connection with major transactions HK$1,020,000

Professional services rendered in connection with a major and connected transaction HK$300,000

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve 
and maintain diversity on the Board in order to maintain a competitive advantage of the Board. Pursuant 
to Policy, the Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors, 
including but not limited to the talents, skills, regional and industry experience, background, gender and 
other qualities. The Board will from time to time consider to set measurable objectives to implement the 
Policy and review such objectives to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards 
achieving those objective. As at 31st December, 2023, the Board has approximately 11% of female Directors 
(1 female out of 9 Directors). The Board is committed to improving greater gender diversity and wishes to 
achieve at least 30% of female Directors by the end of 2025.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

Pursuant to the Code, a board of directors should establish formal and transparent arrangements for 
considering how it will apply the financial reporting and internal control principles and for maintaining an 
appropriate relationship with the company’s auditor. The audit committee established by an issuer pursuant 
to the Listing Rules should have clear terms of reference.

The Board has established the Audit Committee. As a standing committee of the Board, the Audit Committee 
is mainly responsible for monitoring the completeness of the financial statements and regular reports issued 
by the Company and reviewing the financial control, internal control and risk management system of the 
Company. The members of the Audit Committee comprised Mr. Cheung Ting Kee, Dr. Liu Yongping and 
Ms. Zhang Yan, all of them being independent non-executive Directors, with Mr. Cheung Ting Kee as the 
chairman of the Audit Committee.
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee setting out the committee’s authority and duties are available 
from the Company’s website.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include, but not limited to:

(1) to be responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment 
and removal of the external auditor, to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the 
external auditor, and to handle any questions on resignation or dismissal of any relevant auditor;

(2) to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of 
the audit process in accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee should discuss with 
the auditor the nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

(3) to develop and implement policy on the engagement of an external auditor to supply non-audit services 
and to report to the Board, identifying any matters in respect of which it considers that action or 
improvement is needed and making recommendations as to the steps to be taken;

(4) to monitor the integrity of the financial statements, annual report and accounts and interim report and 
to review significant financial reporting judgements contained therein;

(5) to review the Company’s financial control, internal control and risk management systems;

(6) to discuss the risk management and internal control system with the management and ensure that 
management has performed its duty in establishing an effective internal control system;

(7) to consider any findings of major investigations or risk management and internal control matters and 
management responses as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative;

(8) to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices;

(9) to review the external auditor’s management letter to the management of the Company, any material 
queries raised by the auditor to the management in respect of accounting records, financial accounts 
or systems of control and management’s response;

(10) to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the issues raised in the management letter 
from the external auditor to the management; and

(11) to report to the Board on the matters set out in the Code; and consider other topics, as defined by 
the Board.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the Current Year, at which the Audit Committee reviewed 
the annual report and interim report of the Company and matters relating the connected transactions 
and made recommendations to the Board. The Audit Committee also reviewed the risk management and 
internal control system of the Company. The Board and the Audit Committee concurred in their opinions 
regarding the election and appointment of the external auditor. The Audit Committee was provided with 
sufficient resources to perform its duties.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has set up the Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference, members of which 
are currently Ms. Zhang Yan (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, an independent non-executive 
Director), Dr. Liu Yongping (an independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Pan Mingfeng (an executive 
Director). Regular meetings are held by the committee to review and discuss matters relating to the 
remuneration policy, remuneration levels and the remuneration of executive Directors.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee setting out the committee’s authority and duties 
are available in the Company’s website.

The principal role of the Remuneration Committee is to provide advice and recommendation to the Board 
on the remuneration package of Directors, on any specific remuneration package with reference to market 
conditions, performance of the Group and the individuals against present goals and targets as set by the 
Board from time to time, and if necessary, on any compensation policy for termination of office of Directors.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the Current Year, in the meeting, the Remuneration 
Committee reviewed and recommended (i) the remuneration package and performance of Directors; and 
(ii) adjustment of the fees for certain directors.

The emolument payable to Directors will depend on their respective contractual terms under employment 
contracts, if any, and as recommended by the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board. Details 
of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Company has set up the Nomination Committee with written terms of reference, members of which are 
currently Mr. Wu Yinghua (Chairman of the Nomination Committee, Chairman of the Board and an executive 
Director as appointed on 12th January, 2024), Dr. Liu Yongping (an independent non-executive Director) 
and Ms. Zhang Yan (an independent non-executive Director). Duties of the Nomination Committee include 
reviewing the Board composition and identifying and nominating candidates for appointment to the Board 
such that it has the relevant blend of skills, knowledge and experience.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee setting out the committee’s authority and duties are 
available in the Company’s website.
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The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

1. reviews the structure, size and composition (including skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of 
perspectives) of the Board at least annually and makes recommendations on any proposed changes 
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

2. identifies individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and selects or makes recommendations 
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

3. assesses the independence of the independent non-executive Directors; and

4. makes recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and 
succession planning for Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.

The Company values gender diversity. As at the date of this report, the Board has approximately 11% of 
female Directors (1 female out of 9 Directors). The Board is committed to improving greater gender diversity 
and wishes to achieve at least 30% of female Directors by the end of 2025.

During the Current Year, the Nomination Committee and the Board considered that the composition of the 
Board was balanced and diversified.

The policy will be reviewed periodically to ensure it remains relevant to the Company’s needs and reflects 
both regulatory requirements and good corporate governance practices.

During the Current Year, one meeting was held to (i) review the existing structure, size and composition of 
the Board; (ii) confirm independence of independent non-executive Directors; and (iii) make recommendation 
to the Board on the proposed re-election of the retiring Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Risk Management and Internal controls

The Group is committed to the identification, monitoring and management of risks associated with its 
business activities. The Board has an overall and ongoing responsibility for the internal control system and 
risk management procedures of the Company. The Board has developed its systems of internal control and 
risk management and is also responsible for reviewing the systems at least once a year and maintaining 
an adequate internal control system to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the assets of 
the Company. During the Current Year, the Board has entrusted the Audit Committee and appointed a 
professional internal control consultant with the responsibility to assess risk of the Company and perform 
the agreed-upon procedures in relation to the internal controls of the main business of the Company. The 
risk assessment report documents major business risks and the 3-year internal audit plan is developed 
based on the risk assessment results. The agreed-upon procedures report provided factual findings of 
whether the internal control procedures of the main business of the Company are suitably designed to 
achieve specified control objectives with recommendations proposed for the Company to further improve its 
internal control system in respect of areas including identification of significant control failings or weakness 
which have or will have a material impact on the Group’s financial performance, and the effectiveness of 
the Group’s processes for financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance.
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The Board reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s material internal controls and considers the Group’s 
internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance against material misstatement or loss 
and to manage and eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and fulfillment of business objective. 
The system includes a defined management structure with segregation of duties. The Board’s opinion that 
the resources for and qualifications of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function 
are adequate and sufficient. Based on information furnished to it and on its own observations, the Board 
is satisfied with present internal controls of the Group.

Company Secretary

Mr. Cheng Man Hung was appointed as the Company Secretary with effect from 9th August, 2021. All 
Directors have access to the advices and services of the Company Secretary. During the year ended 31st 
December, 2023, the Company Secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings 
to update his skills and knowledge.

Investors’ Relations and Communication with Shareholders

Pursuant to the Code, a board of directors should endeavour to maintain an on-going dialogue with 
shareholders and, in particular, to communicate through annual general meetings with shareholders and 
encourage their participation. The company should regularly inform shareholders of the procedure for voting 
by poll and ensure compliance with the requirements about voting by poll contained in the Listing Rules 
and the constitutional documents of the company.

The Company, the Board and the management place high regard on the opinions and needs of shareholders.

The Company attempts to enhance the communication with its shareholders through publishing interim 
and annual results and reports and press releases as well as announcing publicly its latest developments 
on its website (www.yueda.com.hk).

Shareholders may also receive the latest information released by the Company electronically. The annual 
general meeting of the Company is a communication channel between the shareholders and the Board 
members, including independent non-executive Directors and the senior management. The chairman of 
the Board and chairman of each committee shall try their best to attend the meeting to answer questions 
raised by the shareholders. During the Current Year, the Company held the 2022 AGM and the December 
EGM, at which a separate resolution was proposed in respect of each motion.

The procedures for and the rights of shareholders to demand for a poll and details of the proposed resolutions 
were disclosed in the circular sent to shareholders prior to each of the general meeting.

The Company is committed to ensure that it is fully compliant with the disclosure obligations stipulated 
under the Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations, and that all shareholders of the Company 
and potential investors have an equal opportunity to receive and obtain externally available information 
released by the Group. The Company reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders 
communication policy and considered it to be effective.
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During the Current Year, the Company has not made any changes to its articles of association.

Shareholders’ Rights

Pursuant to article 64 of the articles of association of the Company, any one or more shareholders holding 
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having 
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition 
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to 
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting 
shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the 
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the 
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the 
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The above written requisition shall be addressed to the Company’s head office at:

Room 3321–23 and 3325, 33rd Floor, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 200 Connaught Road 
Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

The procedures for proposing a person for election as a Director are set out in the section “Investor 
Relations” on the home page of the Company’s website.

To put forward proposals at an annual general meeting or an extraordinary general meeting, the shareholders 
shall submit a written notice of those proposals with the detailed contact information to the company 
secretary of the Company at the Company’s registered office.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and upon its confirmation 
that the request is proper and in order, the company secretary of the Company will ask the Board to include 
the resolution in the agenda for the general meeting.

Moreover, the notice period concerning the notice to be given to all the shareholders for consideration 
of the proposals submitted by the shareholders concerned varies as follows pursuant to article 65 of the 
articles of association of the Company:

(a) for an annual general meeting and any extraordinary general meeting at which the passing of a special 
resolution is to be considered, it shall be called by at least 21 days’ notice in writing; and

(b) for all other extraordinary general meetings, they may be called by not less than 14 days’ notice in 
writing.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries to the Board in writing through the Company Secretary.
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Yue Da International Holdings Limited (herein referred to as “Yue Da”, the “Company”, “we”, “our”) is a 
leading Chinese state-owned enterprise that has been engaged in factoring related business (the “Factoring 
Operations”). Our primary operation is to offer factoring services, accounts receivable collection and 
management services, and accounts receivable consultancy services to our customers in the People’s 
Republic of China (the “PRC”). The Company together with our subsidiary as listed in Scope of Report 
(collectively the “Group”) is pleased to publish our eighth Environmental, Social, and Governance (“ESG”) 
report (the “Report”), summarising our policies, approaches and performance of ESG-related topics and 
issues.

REPORTING BOUNDARY

This ESG Report provides an overview of the Group’s ESG management approaches, environmental 
performance, and social performance for the Reporting Period from 1st January, 2023 to 31st December, 
2023 (referred to as the “Reporting Period” or “2023”). The Report aims to present a comprehensive analysis 
of the Group’s ESG initiatives and their outcomes during this specific timeframe. Below is the scope of 
our core operations:

Yue Da International Holdings Limited

Yueda (Shenzhen) Commercial Factoring Co., Ltd. 

REPORTING STANDARD

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the “Comply or Explain” provisions outlined in the 
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG Reporting Guide”) under Appendix C2 
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock 
Exchange”). It signifies the Group’s adherence to the reporting requirements and guidelines set forth by the 
Stock Exchange. The Report has undergone a review process and received approval from the Company’s 
board of directors (the “Board”).
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

Throughout the ESG Report, we adopt the reporting principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and 
consistency, as described below:

Materiality Quantitative

• The identification of material topics was 
achieved through internal discussions and 
active engagement with key stakeholders. 
The materiality matrix and a comprehensive 
summary of stakeholder engagement are 
provided in later sections.

• The disclosed data, environmental, and social 
key performance indicators (“KPI(s)”) presented 
in this Report have been meticulously organised 
and calculated using a set of standardised 
methodologies. These methodologies are 
explained and illustrated in the relevant sections 
of the Report.

Balance Consistency

• The Board recognises its responsibility in 
overseeing the Company’s sustainable 
development and ensuring the truthfulness, 
accuracy, and completeness of the Report. 
The Report strives to provide an unbiased 
and transparent depiction of the Group’s 
performance, allowing stakeholders to make 
informed decisions based on reliable and 
trustworthy data.

• The Report has been prepared using consistent 
reporting scope and methodologies same 
as the previous years, ensuring accurate 
and meaningful year-on-year comparisons. 
A consistent environmental and social 
data management approach allows for fair 
assessment of performance over time.

CONTACT & FEEDBACK

The Group deeply values feedback and opinions from diverse perspectives. We recognise that gathering 
insights and suggestions is vital to improving our sustainability performance and strive to better understand 
our stakeholder expectations in order to refine our practices accordingly. Therefore, we welcome any 
valuable comments and feedback on our ESG Report and performance. Please feel free to contact us with 
the following contact information:

Room 3321–3325, 33rd Floor China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 200 Connaught Road Central, 
Sheung Wan, HKSAR

Telephone number: (852) 2902 1022
Email: ir@yueda.com.hk



312023 Annual Report 

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Sustainable development lies at the heart of our Group’s mission as we recognise the immense impact 
we have on shaping the future. As a prominent state-owned enterprise in the PRC, we firmly believe that 
fulfilling our corporate social responsibility is just as crucial as delivering economic value. Our Group places 
utmost importance on corporate integrity, exceptional customer service, and a strong commitment to social 
responsibility, resulting in numerous accolades and acknowledgments. We remain dedicated to upholding 
our long-standing tradition of valuing corporate social responsibility.

During the Review Period, the Group has consistently demonstrated strict compliance with statutory 
requirements regarding the identified material aspects. To the best of the directors’ knowledge, there 
were no instances of material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations by the Group that would 
significantly impact its business and operations.

ESG Governance Structure

The ESG governance framework of the Group comprises two key components: the Board and the ESG Task 
Force. The Board has the ultimate responsibility of regularly overseeing the Group’s ESG performance and 
providing strategic guidance for ESG initiatives. Annually, the Board assesses the ESG issues encountered 
and sets ESG strategy and objectives for the organisation. On the other hand, the ESG Task Force, mainly 
composed of representatives from different departments, plays a vital role in assessing and managing 
ESG-related matters in daily operations. This dedicated team undertakes the responsibility of evaluating 
and addressing various ESG issues, ensuring effective management and mitigation of associated risks.

The Board

• Overseeing the ESG issues of the Group
• Ensuring appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal control systems
• Assessing and identifying the ESG-related risks and opportunities associated with the Group
• Setting up the ESG management methodology, strategy, focus and objectives of the Group
• Evaluating the Group’s performance against ESG-related goals and guidelines
• Approving the Group’s ESG disclosure reports

ESG task force team

• Assessing and managing ESG-related issues
• Identifying and assessing ESG risks and opportunities, integrating them into the company’s risk 

management framework
• Reporting any ESG findings, progress, and recommendations to the Board for further discussion 

and decision-making
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THE CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

After the pandemic crisis, the recovery of the world economy is likely to be slow which will remain a great 
challenge to the economy and our operations. The Group has learned the lessons of weathering tough 
macroeconomic conditions and recognises that sustainability is the key to success. At the same time, 
stakeholders are increasingly expecting corporations to take sustainability factors into consideration when 
doing businesses. The Group recognises this and continues to make sustainability as its operational focus. 
We are committed to improving the sustainability performance of our operations. We understand that 
sustainability governance is the foundation to a successful operation.

The Board is, therefore, responsible for setting our strategic direction, ensuring that our ESG strategy 
reflects the Group’s values and core businesses. In the future, the Board will review the progress made 
against ESG-related goals to guide the Group in monitoring its ESG performance.

By integrating sustainability into our business philosophy, we create greater value for our stakeholders and 
society. Without the contribution of our employees, customers, business partners and communities, it would 
not have been possible for the Group to have achieved so much. To better understand the demands and 
expectations of our stakeholders, we invite employees, suppliers, and clients to participate in a survey to 
maintain effective communication, allowing us to better accommodate their needs.

Going forward, to meet future challenges, we will continue to drive our sustainability performance and 
further integrate sustainability into our core strategy. This Report sets out our sustainability practices and 
approaches throughout the past year. We hope this Report will provide our stakeholders an overview of 
our sustainability performance.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Recognising the significance of fostering strong relationships, the Group places great importance on 
maintaining close connections with our key stakeholders. Engaging with stakeholders is essential for 
sustainable development and gaining valuable insights into their expectations and perspectives on the 
Company’s ESG performance. We have implemented the following communication channels for our key 
stakeholders.

Investors and 
 Shareholders

• Company website
• Company’s announcements and circulars
• Annual and extraordinary general meetings
• Annual and interim reports
• Email

Customers • Customer direct communication
• Customer feedback and complaints
• Monthly/quarterly onsite visits

Employees • Regular meetings with management
• Liaise with the business advisory group every six months

Suppliers • Selection assessment
• Procurement process
• Regular communication through email, meetings, on-site visits, etc.

Community and the 
 Public

• Company website
• Company’s publications
• Community activities
• Onsite visits to provide appropriate support whenever possible

Non-governmental 
 Organisations

• Sharing section held among the factoring industry in Shenzhen.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted a comprehensive materiality assessment to identify the 
significant ESG-related issues that are relevant to its operations. An external consultant was commissioned 
to carry out this assessment. The key objective was to determine the ESG issues that have a substantial 
impact on the Group’s stakeholders and business operations. The outcomes of this assessment formed a 
crucial foundation for developing effective ESG management strategies and guiding the content and focus 
of the Group’s reporting disclosures.

Identification With reference to international trends, peer analysis and ESG Reporting 
Guide, the third-party consultant assisted the Group in identifying 
34 topics that are most material to its business and impact on the 
environment and society.

Engagement Through an online questionnaire, the Group invited internal and external 
stakeholders to rate 34 identified topics based on their significance to the 
Group’s business and operation and to the stakeholders respectively.

Analysis The consultant analyzed the feedback of the stakeholders and plotted 
in the materiality matrix. The Report focuses on the most material ESG 
issues and highlights the Group’s relevant strategies and impacts.

Verification The Group reviewed and verified the results of the materiality assessment 
for ESG reporting as we strive for future performance improvement.

Based on the scores of each of the ESG issues identified by the stakeholders, the ESG issues were 
prioritised and shown in the materiality matrix below. Issues that fell in the upper right corner of the matrix 
were identified as the topics that matter most to the Group’s business operations and our stakeholders 
are most concerned about.
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1. Air emission 15. Labour rights 24. Customer satisfaction
2. Greenhouse gas emission 16. Labour/Management relations 25. Customer service quality and 

 complaints handling
3. Decarbonisation 17. Employee retention 26. Customer health and safety 
4. Conversion of ecosystem 18. Diversity and equal opportunity 27. Marketing and product and service 

 labelling compliance
5. Nature-related risk and 

 opportunity management
19. Non-discrimination 28. Intellectual property 

6. Circular economy 20. Occupational health and safety 29. Customer privacy and data 
 protection

7. Environmental data management 21. Employee training 30. Responsible supply chain 
 management 

8. Climate change mitigation 22. Employee development 31. Fair operating practices on supplier
9. Climate risk management 23. Prevention of child labour 

 and forced labour
32. Ethical business

10. Energy efficiency 33. Socio-economic compliance

11. Water & effluents Community
 

12. Use of materials 34. Community involvement 
13. Waste Management 
14. Environmental compliance 
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According to the results of the Materiality Matrix illustrated above, the top five material topics of the Group 
are Employee Retention, Occupational Health and Safety, Ethical Business, Customer Privacy and Data 
Protection and Socio-Economic Compliance. Looking forward, the Group will continue to review and 
develop appropriate ESG policies and targets, as well as optimising the ESG reporting disclosure in order 
to pursue continuous improvement in its ESG performance in the future.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group acknowledges the importance of environmental preservation for achieving sustainable 
development. As such, we are deeply committed to minimising the environmental effects that may arise 
from our daily business operations. As the Group’s operations are mostly office-based, limited adverse 
impact on the environment and natural resources will be incurred by our operation. Despite that, the Group 
remains fully committed to complying with all applicable laws and regulations concerning environmental 
protection and pollution control, including the Air Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC, the 
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC, the Law of the PRC on Prevention and Control of Pollution by 
Environmental Noise, the Noise Control Ordinance, and the Air Pollution Control Ordinance.

Emission Management

In order to assess our environmental impact, we actively measure and monitor our greenhouse gas (“GHG”) 
emissions. During the Reporting Period, our passenger car was not used for business operation. This 
absence of combustion-related activities means that the typical air emissions, such as nitrogen oxides 
(“NOx”), sulphur oxides (“SOx”), and respiratory suspended particles (“PM”), were not emitted by the 
Group’s vehicle during 2023.

GHG Emissions Unit FY2023 1 FY2022    

Scope 12 Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 
 (“tCO2e”)

0 0

Scope 23 tCO2e 4.525 4.191
Scope 34 tCO2e 0.024 0.024
Total GHG emission tCO2e 4.549 4.215
Intensity tCO2e/total office area 0.016 0.015

During the Reporting Period, purchased electricity was the largest source of emission of the Group, 
accounting for over 94% of our total GHG emission during the Reporting Period. 4.549 tCO2e from the 
Group’s operations, representing a 7.8% increase from the previous year. The intensity was 0.016 tCO2e 
per m2 of total office area during the Reporting Period.

1 Calculation is based on “How to prepare and ESG Report Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published 
by the Stock Exchange.

2 Scope 1 represents direct GHG emissions generated by the use of fuels for mobile sources.
3 Scope 2 represents energy indirect GHG emissions generated by the use of purchased electricity from local power companies.
4 Scope 3 covers energy indirect GHG emissions generated by paper disposal. The paper consumed by the Group are mainly for 

internal reporting and retention purpose, only a small portion of paper consumed would be disposed of.
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To actively promote the reduction of carbon footprint, besides from emission from the workplace, the Group 
also encourages our employees to opt for public transportation when commuting to and from work in order 
to minimise individual carbon emissions associated with daily travel. Additionally, the Group emphasises 
the use of online conferences as an alternative to in-person meetings, this fosters collaboration while 
significantly reducing emissions related to travel. However, when business travels are unavoidable, the Group 
prioritises economy-class transportation options. By opting for economy-class, which typically has lower 
emissions compared to other travel classes, the Group demonstrates its commitment to environmentally 
conscious practices.

Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste

The Group’s business operations do not involve the generation of a significant amount of hazardous waste. 
While for non-hazardous waste, we mainly generate general office waste, in particularly paper. Due to the 
fact that the quantity is deemed insignificant, the number of consumptions is approximately measured as 
10,000 pieces of paper each year. The Group also implements some measures to decrease the amount 
of non-hazardous waste generated. For instance, the Group advocates the “Paperless Office” approach 
by the utilisation of network resources to circulate documents, information, general notices, and meeting 
materials through the OA system transmission. Printing should be minimised unless absolutely necessary. 
Reminders are placed in prominent locations to promote the avoidance of excessive tissue paper use. 
Additionally, we emphasise the importance of recycling. Manuscript and Single-sided used printing paper are 
reused whenever possible. Other than that, the Corporate Management Department inspects and reports on 
printing cost for each department during the monthly meeting. Additional points are given to departments 
and units that demonstrate the most effective printing cost-saving measures in the annual assessment. 
This aims to reduce printing costs by 30%-40% year-on-year for all departments. Non-hazardous waste 
generated are primarily handled by the Property Management Department of the office building by collecting 
and treating the waste.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have material non-compliance with laws and regulations 
relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste and use of resources that had a significant impact on the Group.
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Resources Consumption

The Group is dedicated to creating an environmentally friendly workplace by harnessing the collective 
efforts of individuals. Through a variety of eco-friendly initiatives, we strive to reduce energy consumption 
and minimise waste generation in our day-to-day operations. The Group’s major resources consumption 
includes the used of purchased electricity, water and paper. The Group’s business does not involve any 
use of packaging materials. To gain insight into resource consumption during FY2023, please refer to the 
table below:

Resource Consumption Unit FY2023 FY2022    

Purchased electricity kWh 7,416.00 7,214.00
Water m3 13.00 12.00
Paper kg 49.90 49.90

Water Consumption

During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed a total of 13 m3 of water, indicating an 8.33% change 
compared to the previous year. The management of water consumption is overseen by the property 
management department of the office building, which supplies a monthly breakdown of the Group’s water 
usage throughout the Reporting Period. Notably, the consumption intensity amounted to 0.05 m3 of water 
per m2 of total office area.

Energy Consumption

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s operations consumed a total of 7,416 kWh of energy, primarily 
from electricity usage for office operations. This figure reflects an increase of 2.80% compared to the 
previous year. The management of electricity consumption is entrusted to the property management 
department of the office building, which provides a monthly breakdown of the Group’s electricity usage 
throughout the Reporting Period. Notably, the consumption intensity stood at 26.58 kWh of electricity per 
m2 of total office area.

Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group actively practices energy conservation by turning off unnecessary air conditioners and lights 
during lunch breaks and after work hours. Employees are encouraged to power down idle electrical 
appliances, and the administration department maintains air conditioner temperatures at or above 26 degrees 
Celsius. During the winter period, only ventilation fans are used to reduce energy consumption. In the 
upcoming years, the Group will continue promoting energy conservation and raising employee awareness.
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Climate Change

The Group acknowledges the substantial and diverse challenges posed by climate change, which not only 
affects the global community but also impacts our business operations. Understanding the pressing nature 
of this issue, we are fully committed to transparently disclosing our climate-related information in alignment 
with the four key elements outlined in the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”) 
recommendations. These elements encompass Governance, Strategy, Risk Management, and Metrics 
and Targets. By adhering to these guidelines, we aim to provide comprehensive and relevant information 
regarding our approach to climate-related matters and their financial implications.

Governance

• As an office-based company, the Group has not experienced significant threats to its business 
operations from climate change. Consequently, the Group has not established specific policies 
specifically addressing climate change. Instead, climate change strategies and initiatives are 
implemented and overseen by the establishment of the ESG task force team, who is responsible 
for managing ESG-related issues, including climate change.

Strategy

• In order to comprehensively understand and proactively develop strategies that address the 
risks associated with climate change, the Group has conducted a thorough assessment of both 
physical and transition risks. This evaluation enables us to identify the time horizon, trend, and 
potential impacts in order to develop appropriate mitigation measures. Further details outlining 
the specific risks are provided below:

Climate 
Risks

Time 
horizon Trend Potential financial impact     

Physical Risks Acute Short term Increase Extreme weather triggering hurricanes, 
 cyclones, floods and earthquakes 
 with increased severity can cause 
 supply chain interruption by bringing 
 damage to physical infrastructure, 
 potential damage to offices, 
 disruption to operations, impacting 
 employees, hinder supply chains 
 and result in costly repairs.

Chronic Long term Increase Gradual change in climate patterns 
 can increase capital costs, 
 operating costs, costs of human 
 resources and increased insurance 
 premium.
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Climate 
Risks

Time 
horizon Trend Potential financial impact     

Transition Risks Technology Long term Increase During the transition phase, the Group 
 anticipates higher expenses related 
 to procuring new and alternative 
 technologies, as well as the 
 additional costs associated with 
 adopting and implementing novel 
 practices and processes.

Policy and 
 Legal

Short to 
 medium 
 term

Increase Implementation of tightened 
 environmental laws, stringent 
 requirements on climate disclosures 
 and carbon pricing system 
 increases operating costs as more 
 investments needed to invest in 
 additional measures, technologies, 
 or infrastructure to meet compliance 
 standards.

Market Short term Increase During the transitional period, the 
 Group might face a decrease in 
 revenue in order to address the 
 shift in client preference and their 
 higher environmental standards, if 
 no strategy has been set 
 accordingly.

Reputation Short to 
 medium 
 term

Increase Stakeholders may become 
 increasingly conscious of climate- 
 related risks and sustainability 
 practices of the Group, any 
 perceived inadequacy in the 
 Group’s approach to addressing 
 these concerns can lead to a loss 
 of investor confidence, potentially 
 impacting the stock price and 
 market capitalisation of the Group, 
 and hence increasing the liquidity 
 risk.
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Risk Management

• A risk assessment has been conducted based on assessing the possibility and impact of each 
identified risk into three levels: high, medium and low.

High – Risks at this level have the potential for serious consequences that can significantly 
impact the Group and hinder the achievement of strategic goals.

Medium – Risks at this level may either have the potential for serious consequences, but they 
are less likely to occur compared to high-risk situations or on the other way round.

Low – Risks at this level have limited harm and consequences for the Group to achieve its 
strategic goals, and the probability of occurrence is low.

Based on the Group’s assessment of climate-related risks using the recommendations of the 
TCFD, it has determined that the climate-related risks falls within the medium to high-risk level 
according to its risk assessment.

Further details outlining the specific risks are provided below:

Climate
Risks

Overall risk
Level Management Approach    

Physical Risk Acute and 
 Chronic

Medium Develop relevant contingency plans for extreme 
 weather events, such as work-from-home 
 arrangements for non-essential employees.

Transition Risk Policy and 
 Legal

High Engage with professionals to provide advice on 
 climate-related issues. Continuously monitor the 
 latest climate- related regulations and trend.

Technology Medium Engage with professionals to provide advice on 
 climate-related issues.

Market 
Reputation

High Diversify supply chain and customer base.
High Continuously monitor the latest climate- related 

 regulations and trend.
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Metric and Targets

• To measure the level and impact of the Group’s climate-related risks, the Group monitors 
metrics and indicators to ensure an effective and quantitative assessment. The Group monitors 
and reviews its Scope 1, Scope 2, Scope 3 GHG emissions (in tCO2e), total GHG emissions 
(in tCO2e) and GHG emission intensity (in tCO2e/m2) regularly. The GHG emission data and 
information about target setting are shown in the section “Emission Management” of this Report.

Our Environmental Targets

10% reduction in GHG Emission intensity by FY2031

Intensity in FY2021 (Base year) 0.013 tCO2e per total office area
Intensity in FY2023 0.016 tCO2e per total office area

The Group sets a goal of reducing emissions intensity by 10% by 2031 by using 2021 as the baseline 
year. During the Reporting Period, there was an increase of 25.3% in emissions intensity compared to 
the baseline year, resulting in an emissions intensity of 0.016 tCO2e per m2 of total office area in 2023.

10% reduction in Energy Consumption intensity by FY2031

Intensity in FY2021 (Base year) 20.35 kWh per total office area
Intensity in FY2023 26.85 kWh per total office area

With a baseline year of 2021, the Group sets a target of achieving a 10% reduction in energy use 
intensity by 2031. In this Reporting Period, the Group electricity consumption reached 26.85 kWh 
per m2 of total office area in 2023.

To encourage water conservation, reminders are placed in prominent locations within washrooms 
to remind employees of using water responsibly. Given the limited consumption of water resources, 
the Group has not established specific targets for reducing water use.
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RESPONSIBLE EMPLOYMENT

The Group firmly believes that employees are a vital asset in creating value for the company. Recognising 
their pivotal role, we prioritise the well-being of our employees as it directly contributes to their overall 
satisfaction, productivity, and engagement. We understand that a healthy and supported workforce is 
essential for achieving optimal business performance and long-term success.

At the end of the Reporting Period, the operations in Mainland China comprised a total of 18 employees, 
hailing from various provinces in the PRC. Throughout the reporting period, there were no instances of 
significant non-compliance related to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working 
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare that 
would have had a notable impact on the Group. The Group has strictly adhered to the pertinent employment 
laws and regulations of Mainland China to safeguard the interests and rights of its employees. These 
include the Labour Law, Labour Contract Law, Regulations on Paid Annual Leave for Employees, Law on 
the Protection of Women’s Rights and Interests, and the Special Rules on the Labour Protection of Female 
Employees.

Our total workforce number and turnover rate by different categories are illustrated below:

2023 2022    

Total number of employees 18 16
By gender Male 12 (66.67%) 11 (68.75%)

Female 6 (33.33%) 5 (31.25%)

By age group 18–25 0 (0.00%) 0 (0.00%)
26–35 9 (50.00%) 10 (62.50%)
36–45 4 (22.22%) 4 (25.00%)
46–55 3 (16.67%) 1 (6.25%)
56 or above 2 (11.11%) 1 (6.25%)

By geographical region Mainland China 18 (100%) 16 (100%)

By employment type Senior Management 8 (44.45%) 7 (43.75%)
Middle Management 6 (33.33%) 4 (25.00%)
General Staff 4 (22.22%) 5 (31.25%)
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Employment Practices

To provide precise guidance on employee management, the Group has issued several key documents that 
serve as crucial references. The employee handbook has been issued to outline the Group’s expectation on 
the employees while providing employees with essential knowledge concerning their rights, responsibilities, 
and entitlements, thereby fostering a transparent and consistent work environment.

In addition, the human resources management policy establishes a set of principles and guidelines 
governing the practices of the Human Resources department. This policy encompasses vital aspects 
such as performance management, training and development, and employee relations, ensuring equitable 
treatment of all employees while aligning Human Resources practices with the strategic objectives of the 
organisation.

Furthermore, the recruitment policy establishes a standardised framework for attracting, selecting, and 
welcoming new employees, adhering to rigorous criteria, procedures, and ethical considerations.

Competitive Compensation and Benefits Package

The Group places significant emphasis on the recruitment and retention of talented individuals. To attract 
and retain skilled employees, the Group offers a competitive compensation package. Employees receive 
a basic salary along with various allowances based on their job positions, duties, experience, and work 
performance. Additionally, the Group provides comprehensive social insurance coverage, including pension 
fund, Housing Provident Fund, medical insurance, work-related injury insurance, unemployment insurance, 
and maternity insurance, in accordance with the Social Insurance Law of the PRC. The Group has also 
purchased commercial combined insurance for those engaged in factoring operations. The Group conducts 
annual salary reviews to ensure fair compensation practices.

Moreover, various types of leave, such as annual, sick, work-related injury, marriage, maternity, and 
compassionate leave, are provided to support employees during different life situations. The Group strictly 
adheres to employment regulations of the PRC and local government guidelines concerning working hours, 
leaves, and other employee benefits. By prioritising the welfare and rights of its employees, the Group aims 
to foster a positive and supportive work environment.

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

The Group is deeply committed to fostering an environment of transparency, equity, and meritocracy 
through its recruitment and promotion practices. We place great importance on creating an open and fair 
mechanism that promotes equal opportunities for all individuals. As part of our approach, newly recruited 
employees undergo a 30-day probation period, during which their performance is evaluated. We believe 
in nurturing our existing workforce and offer internal promotion opportunities and salary increments based 
on comprehensive performance appraisals that consider work capability, attitude, and the quality of work 
demonstrated. These evaluations take place both during the probation period and at the end of each year 
to ensure that our employees’ contributions are duly recognised and rewarded. To maintain consistency 
and fairness, the Group has established a well-defined policy outlining the procedures and criteria for 
determining job positions, salary levels, and management hierarchies.
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Additionally, employees are requested to notify the Group regarding their preference for termination or 
renewal of their employment contract at least 30 days before its expiration. This proactive approach allows 
the Group to effectively manage workforce planning and make necessary arrangements. In accordance with 
the provisions outlined in the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, the Group provides economic compensation 
to employees in situations specified by the law.

Equal Opportunity

The Group upholds a steadfast commitment to promoting equal opportunities for all employees across 
various aspects, including recruitment, compensation and benefits, training and development, and job 
advancement. We firmly believe in creating a fair and inclusive work environment where individuals are 
treated with respect and their contributions are recognised based on merit. We strictly adhere to applicable 
laws and regulations, ensuring that employee remuneration is not influenced by factors such as age, gender, 
ethnic background, religion, colour, marital status, family status, retirement, disability, pregnancy, or any 
other form of discrimination.

Employee Communication

The Group has established an “Award and Penalty System” to reinforce a culture of excellence, responsibility, 
and discipline among employees. This system aims to recognise and reward employees who consistently 
demonstrate exceptional performance, responsibility, and serve as role models within the organisation. Those 
who exhibit these qualities may receive incentives such as cash bonuses, paid leave, training opportunities, 
or even promotion prospects. Conversely, in case of serious misconduct or deceitful behaviour, appropriate 
disciplinary actions and cash penalties are implemented.

During the Reporting Period, the Group and the Workers’ Congress arranged activities to build workplace 
camaraderie and improve teamwork. An activity room has been set up for employees to take rest and 
communicate with each other.

Healthy and Safe Workplace

The Group places a paramount importance on the occupational health and safety of its employees, ensuring 
a secure and healthy working environment. We strictly adhere to all relevant occupational health laws and 
regulations in Mainland China that are applicable to our operations, focusing on workplace safety and the 
prevention of occupational hazards. Key laws and regulations related to occupational health that the Group 
adheres to include the Labour Law, the Labour Contract Law, and the PRC Law on the Prevention and 
Control of Occupational Diseases. By upholding these laws and regulations and implementing comprehensive 
safety measures, the Group strives to ensure the occupational health and safety of its employees, creating 
a secure and healthy work environment that fosters their well-being and productivity.
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To promote awareness and knowledge of health and safety measures, employees are consistently reminded 
through notice boards, occupational health and safety regulations, and hazard warning labels placed 
in prominent locations. We provide safety training and personal protective equipment to employees in 
compliance with national regulations, ensuring they have the necessary tools and knowledge to protect 
their well-being. Additionally, we have installed indoor air purifiers to enhance indoor air quality and good 
ventilation within the office premises. Ventilation systems has been regularly inspected to facilitate the 
circulation of fresh air.

During the Reporting Period, fire drills were conducted to prepare employees for emergency situations, 
enabling them to respond effectively and efficiently in case of a fire or other critical incidents.

Occupational Health and Safety Data

FY2023 FY2022   

Work related fatality 0 0
Fatality rate 0.00% 0.00%
Work injury cases >3 days 0 0
Work injury cases ≤3 days 0 0
Lost days due to work injury 0 0
   

During the Reporting Period, there were no cases of work-related fatalities, injuries, or instances of 
non-compliance that had a significant impact on the Group’s ability to provide a safe working environment 
and protect employees from occupational hazards.

Training and Career Development

The Group is committed to providing continuous learning opportunities for its employees, fostering 
professional growth and enhancing job performance. To encourage employee participation in training and 
academic advancement programmes, we have implemented a training score scheme. Under this scheme, 
employees are incentivised to engage in both internal and external training initiatives. Training sessions 
cover a range of topics including professional knowledge, relevant laws and regulations, and industry news 
to ensure employees are equipped with up-to-date information and skills. To ensure the effectiveness of our 
training programmes, we identify employees’ training needs through questionnaires before conducting large-
scale training sessions. This helps us tailor the training content to address specific areas of improvement 
and meet the evolving needs of our workforce.
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During the Reporting Period, we are proud to report that all our employees participated in training, 
demonstrating our commitment to continuous learning and development within the Group. During the 
Reporting Period, the Group provided training programmes to our staff, and the average training hours per 
gender and employee category are as follows:

Training Profile FY2023 FY2022    

Annual average hours of training per employee and percentage 
 (%) of employees who received training5

36.00 hrs
100%

36.00 hrs
100%

By Gender Male 36.00 hrs 36.00 hrs
Female 36.00 hrs 36.00 hrs

By Employee Category Senior Management 36.00 hrs 36.00 hrs
Middle Management/
 Supervisor 36.00 hrs 36.00 hrs
General Staff 36.00 hrs 36.00 hrs

    

Labour Standards

In compliance with the Labour Law of the PRC and the PRC Law on the Protection of Minors, the Group 
affirms that there were no instances of child labour or forced labour within its operations during the Reporting 
Period. Our recruitment procedures strictly adhere to the guidelines outlined in the human resources 
management policy. To ensure the accuracy of information provided by candidates, the Human Resources 
Department conducts thorough verification processes. This includes verifying candidates’ identity cards, 
educational certificates, and employee registration forms.

Additionally, the industry union and the Group’s labour mediation committee actively participate in efforts 
to prevent forced labour. In the event that any non-compliance is discovered, the Group takes immediate 
action by terminating the employment of individuals involved and conducting further investigations to prevent 
any recurrence of such incidents.

Supply Chain Management

The Group has established a systematic procurement procedure to ensure efficient and effective sourcing 
of required items. The process begins with the user department submitting a report outlining the necessary 
items and their specifications to the Department of Inventory. The procurement document then proceeds 
through a series of approvals, involving the Financial Director, the General Manager, and the Procurement 
Department. Only after receiving approval from all parties involved does the procurement process move 
forward.

5 Percentage of employees who received training is calculated by dividing the number of trained employees of each category by 
total employees of that category.
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The Procurement Department is responsible for sourcing the required items through a tendering process. At 
least three quotations are obtained to ensure competitive pricing and quality. In the event that a procured 
item is found to be faulty, the Department of Inventory contacts the corresponding supplier to arrange for 
an exchange. The exchanged item is thoroughly scrutinised to ensure it meets the specified standards 
and quality requirements.

While the Group does not have a specific policy in place for managing environmental and social risks in the 
supply chain, it demonstrates a consideration for environmental performance when purchasing renovation 
materials and furniture for the office of the factoring operation. Additionally, factors such as brand perception, 
popularity, and supplier background are taken into account when choosing suppliers.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not engage with any long-term suppliers.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group maintains strict risk control measures to mitigate the risks associated with its factoring business. 
Thorough due diligence investigations were conducted to assess the customer’s loan repayment capacity 
and evaluate associated risks prior to approving traditional factoring loans. These due diligence reports are 
then reviewed and approved by professional parties who possess the necessary expertise. Subsequently, 
the legal department drafts the agreement, which is designed to protect the Group from operational 
risks. The agreement is signed by professional law firms to ensure its legal validity and enforceability. To 
further reduce potential risks after granting the loan, the Group closely monitors the financial health of its 
customers. This monitoring process allows for early detection of any emerging risks, enabling the Group 
to take appropriate measures to prevent or mitigate those risks.

In the factoring business targeting state-owned enterprises and conglomerates, the Group strategically 
focuses on customers known for their stability and resilience to risks. This customer selection approach 
helps minimise potential risks associated with the factoring business. Whereas in the communications 
factoring business, the Group engages credit assessment services providers to conduct credit assessments 
of the end customers. This practice aims to minimise risks by obtaining a comprehensive evaluation of the 
creditworthiness of the customers involved.

The Group places a strong emphasis on regulating product promotion and ensuring responsible 
sales practices. In doing so, the Group strictly adheres to the relevant laws and regulations of the 
PRC. See below for a list of relevant laws and regulations:

• Criminal Law

• Advertising Law

• Cyber Security Law

• Provisions on Protecting the Personal Information of Telecommunications and Internet Users
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During the Reporting Period, there was no material non-compliance regarding health and safety, advertising, 
labelling and privacy matters relating to services provided and methods of redress recorded.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group acknowledges the value on the protection of intellectual property rights and recognises its 
significance in fostering innovation and respecting the rights of others. Consequently, the Group maintains 
strict adherence to applicable laws and regulations concerning the use of intellectual property.

During the Reporting Period, there were no cases that violate intellectual property rights.

Privacy and Security

The Group recognises the significance of maintaining the privacy and confidentiality of its customers’ 
information. To ensure the protection of customer privacy, the Group has implemented several measures 
and practices. All employees are required to adhere to the confidentiality terms in the employment contracts 
and are obligated to keep business secrets and sensitive information confidential. The Group also employs a 
dedicated person or team responsible for managing important information and data. Access to such sensitive 
information is restricted, and employees must go through a registration process to gain authorised access. 
To enforce the importance of confidentiality, the Group has established consequences for employees who 
violate confidentiality-related regulations. Depending on the severity of the breach, employees may face 
disciplinary actions, including dismissal.

During the Reporting Period, the Group maintained compliance with all applicable laws and regulations 
regarding the protection of confidential information and data in accordance with the PRC. Furthermore, 
the Group did not receive substantiated complaints regarding breaches of client privacy, identified leaks, 
thefts, or losses of customer information.

Anti-money Laundering and Fraud

The Group places a strong emphasis on conducting its business operations without any form of undue 
influence. Honesty, integrity, and fairness are considered core values within the organisation. To reinforce 
these values and promote an honest corporate culture, the Group regularly reports their integrity maintenance 
status on their business development. The Group has also established a set of regulations known as the “Six 
Prohibitions and Six Bans” which has been implemented across all business activities. These regulations 
outline specific behaviours that are prohibited and banned within the organisation, further reinforcing the 
principles of honesty and integrity.
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The “Six Prohibitions and Six Bans” Regulation

The “Six Prohibition”

• Engaging in activities unrelated to work during working hours

• Offering advantages including service or favour 
to relatives and friends by exercising right or 
power at work

• Receiving kickbacks, shares or performance 
shares of Group-related corporates in the 
name of employee himself / herself or a person 
with specific relationship with the employee

• Conducting deceitful, fraudulent, or anti-
competitive practices in bidding activities

• Causing accidents related to safety production 
and environmental protection which contribute 
to loss and damage to the Group due to 
negligence of duties

• Engaging in activities that violate the national 
laws and regulations, the Party rules or ethical 
standards

The “Six Bans”

• Engaging in bribery • Misappropriating or encroaching on Group-owned properties

• Investing in or receiving 
shares or performance 
shares that violates the 
regulations

• Engaging in corruption, 
embezzlement, and fraud

• Disclosing trade secrets

• Involving in negligence of duties

Moreover, we have provided integrity training for employees, which includes watching educational and 
cautionary videos related to anti-corruption themes, aiming to enhance our employee’s awareness of 
clean and diligent governance, deepen their understanding of the purpose and importance of integrity, and 
emphasise the necessity of complying with political and organisational disciplines.

Besides, during the course of our factoring business operation, the Group consistently ensures that a 
minimum of two individuals attend on-site business negotiations with our customers to ensure full adherence 
to the principles of fair competition, abides by business ethics and market rules, and actively resists any form 
of misconduct from all parties involved. The Group has also assigned executives and disciplinary inspection 
personnel to conduct periodic inspection activities to gain in-depth understanding of the progress of business 
operations. In addition, senior employees within the Group are required to sign a bribery agreement. This 
agreement serves as a commitment to refrain from engaging in any form of bribery or corrupt practices.
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To enhance the understanding of anti-corruption topics among directors and employees, the Group 
conducted anti-corruption training for all of its employees during the Reporting Period. On average, each 
employee received 1 hour of anti-corruption training. This training enables employees to stay updated with 
the relevant laws, regulations, and best practices, promoting a culture of compliance and integrity within 
the organisation.

Whistleblowing System

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining a transparent and ethical work environment, and to 
facilitate this, it has established whistleblowing policies. These policies provide clear guidelines for employees 
to report any misconduct or non-compliant business practices they may observe in the workplace. By 
providing multiple channels for filing complaints and whistleblowing, the Group aims to prevent and address 
any instances of non-compliance effectively. Moreover, the Group ensures compliance with all applicable 
laws concerning the prohibition of corruption and bribery in the PRC. During the Reporting Period, no legal 
cases related to corrupt practices were concluded against the Group or its employees.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

While the Group has not established specific policies related to community engagement and donations 
during the Reporting Period, we encourage its employees to actively participate in community projects 
and activities.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wu Yinghua, aged 53, was appointed as an executive Director and Chairman of the Board in January 
2024. Mr. Wu holds a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Renmin University of China, is a Chinese certified 
public accountant, and obtained the senior accountant qualification certificate issued by the Department of 
Human Resources and Social Security of Jiangsu Province (江蘇省人力資源和社會保障廳). Mr. Wu has over 
30 years of experience in the financial accounting industry. Mr. Wu joined Jiangsu Yue Da Group Company 
Limited in July 2005. Mr. Wu has been the secretary of the Party Committee and chairman of Yueda Capital 
Company Limited since December 2023. Yueda Capital Company Limited owns 100% of issued share 
capital of Yueda Capital (HK) Limited which in turn owns 51.34% issued share capital of the Company.

Mr. Yu Guangshan, aged 57, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in May 2022 and  
re-designated as executive director of the Company in January 2024. Mr. Yu holds a bachelor’s degree in 
accounting from Dalian University of Technology, is a Chinese certified public accountant, and obtained 
the senior accountant qualification certificate issued by the Department of Human Resources and Social 
Security of Jiangsu Province (江蘇省人力資源和社會保障廳). Mr. Yu has over 20 years of experience in 
the financial accounting industry. Mr. Yu worked in the finance department of a company in the PRC from 
August 1988 to May 2000. Subsequently, Mr. Yu joined Jiangsu Yue Da Group Company Limited in May 
2000. Mr. Yu served as the head of finance department of Jiangsu Yueda Investment Company Limited 
from July 2010 to November 2015, and has been the deputy general manager of Yueda Capital Company 
Limited since December 2015. Mr. Yu has also been as a committee member of the Party Committee of 
Yueda Capital Company Limited since November 2020. Yueda Capital Company Limited owns 100% of 
issued share capital of Yueda Capital (HK) Limited which in turn owns 51.34% issued share capital of the 
Company.

Mr. Pan Mingfeng, aged 40, was appointed as an executive director of the Company in April 2021. He 
is also the General Manager of Yueda Commercial Factoring, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company. He is responsible for setting, implementing the business development plan and for improving 
product design of commercial factoring business and development of new business. Mr. Pan graduated 
from Nanjing University of Posts and Telecommunications with a major in Economics. He has over 10 years 
of experience in finance and risk management.

Mr. Wu Shengquan, aged 41, was appointed as an executive director and Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company in April 2023. He is also the Vice General Manager of Yueda Commercial Factoring, an indirect 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and Yueda Commercial Factoring Co., Ltd., a fellow subsidiary 
of the Company, which is a company established in the PRC and is principally engaged in the provision 
of factoring, accounts receivable management and collection and factoring consultancy services. Mr. Wu 
is an intermediate accountant and an intermediate economist in the PRC and graduated from Jiangsu 
University with major in Accounting. He has over 20 years’ experience in finance and business factoring.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Debing, aged 54, was appointed as an executive director in March 2019, re-designated as a non-
executive Director and Chairman of the Board in June 2020 and resigned in January 2024. Mr. Liu graduated 
with a bachelor’s degree in financial accounting from Nanjing University of Science and Technology in 
December 1992. Mr. Liu is an intermediate accountant and chartered accountant. Mr. Liu has over 25 years 
of experience in the financial accounting industry. Upon graduation, Mr. Liu worked in the accounting and 
finance department of various companies in the PRC from July 2000 to April 2007. Subsequently, Mr. Liu 
worked as the chief financial officer at Shanghai Yueda Real Estate Co., Ltd. from April 2007 to September 
2014, and at Shanghai Yueda New Industrial Group Co., Ltd. from September 2014 to January 2018. Mr. 
Liu has been serving as the head of finance department of Jiangsu Yueda Group since January 2018, and 
deputy secretary, general manager and director of Yueda Capital Company Limited from January 2019 
to December 2023, which owns 100% of issued share capital of Yueda Capital (HK) Limited which in turn 
owns 51.34% issued share capital of the Company.

Mr. Li Biao, aged 57, graduated with a specialist degree in pricing from Yancheng Business School in 
July 1985, and in political economics from the Party School of the Provincial Party Committee in January 
2004. Mr. Li has over 20 years of management experience. Mr. Li worked as the director of the Yancheng 
Municipal Communist Youth League Committee Office from November 1997 to November 2003, and as a 
deputy director and, subsequently, a director in the Investment Promotion Bureau of the Yancheng Economic 
Development Zone from November 2003 to December 2006. He was appointed as a vice president of the 
Company from 2006 to 2009, a deputy general manager of Yueda Real Estate Group from June 2011 to 
August 2013, and the chairman and deputy secretary of the party committee of Yueda Real Estate Co., 
Ltd. from August 2013 to March 2017. Mr. Li has been serving as the party secretary and chairman of 
Yueda Real Estate Group Co., Ltd. since March 2017.

Mr. Hu Huaimin, aged 50, was appointed as an executive director of the Company in August 2011 and 
re-designated as a non-executive director and Vice Chairman of the Board in June 2020. Mr. Hu graduated 
from the Law School of Nanjing University and is qualified as a Chinese lawyer and an economist. He has 
over 20 years of experience in the PRC legal practice, corporate legal affairs, investment project operation 
and management. Mr. Hu is a director of each of four subsidiaries of the Group.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Liu Yongping, aged 68, has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company 
since June 2010. He is a consultant of a firm of solicitors in Hong Kong. Dr. Liu graduated from Renmin 
University of China (中國人民大學) in 1983 with a bachelor degree in law, and graduated from the University 
of London in 1987 with a master degree in law. In 1994, Dr. Liu graduated from the University of Oxford 
with a doctor of philosophy. Previously, Dr. Liu worked for the People’s Government of Beijing. At present, 
Dr. Liu is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. Dr. Liu has profound knowledge in the laws of the PRC, 
Hong Kong and England. Since 1994, Dr. Liu has embarked in areas on listing application for PRC based 
companies in Hong Kong and has been working on merger and acquisition. Dr. Liu is acquainted with 
matters concerning the Listing Rules. Dr. Liu is an independent non-executive Director of Wanjia Group 
Holdings Limited ((Stock code: 0401), a company with its shares being listed on the Main Board of the 
Stock Exchange).

Mr. Cheung Ting Kee, aged 54, has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of the 
Company since July 2015. He has over 28 years of working experience in the securities industry including 
equity research, equity sales, fund management and corporate finance. Mr. Cheung is currently the sole 
director and a responsible officer of a Hong Kong company being a corporation licensed to carry out type 
6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”). 
Mr. Cheung obtained a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration and a Master Degree in Professional 
Accounting. He is a fellow member of the Institute of Certified Management Accountants, Australia. Mr. 
Cheung has been an executive director of Planetree International Development Limited (stock code: 0613), 
with shares listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since June 2022.

Ms. Zhang Yan, aged 59, has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company 
since September 2023. She is a senior engineer in the PRC, graduated from Changzhou University (previously 
known as Jiangsu Institute of Chemical Technology) in 1984 with major in basic organic synthesis. She 
was the deputy director from July 2001 to February 2009 and the director from February 2009 to March 
2019, of the industrial investment department of Yancheng City Economic and Information Commission 
(鹽城市經信委). Ms. Zhang has extensive experience in investment project management, chemical process, 
safety and environmental protection. Ms. Zhang has been participating in the evaluation and acceptance 
of administrative licensing projects for production safety for many years. She has taken the lead in drafting 
policies, operational and technical documents, such as the Guiding Catalogue for the Structural Adjustment 
of the Chemical Industry in Yancheng City (《鹽城市化工產業結構調整指導目錄》), the Opinions on the 
Issuance of Implementation Opinions on the Intelligent and Green Development of the Chemical Industry 
in the City (《關於印發全市化工產業智能化綠色化發展實施意見》), the Guidelines for the Preparation of 
Implementation Programs for the Intelligent Construction of Chemical Enterprises in Yancheng City (《鹽
城市化工企業智能化建設實施方案編製指南》), the Measures for the Acceptance of Automation Upgrading 
and Reconstruction Projects in Yancheng City (《鹽城市化工企業自動化升級改造工程驗收辦法》), and 
the Rules of Assessment for the Acceptance of Automation Upgrading and Reconstruction Projects in 
Yancheng City (《鹽城市化工企業自動化升級改造工程驗收評審細則》), promoting the safe production, 
transformation and development of chemical enterprises in Yancheng City. She is a member of the industry 
and information technology, environmental protection, safety experts’ pool of Yancheng City.



552023 Annual Report 

Directors’ Report

The Board of Directors presents the annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the 
Company for the year ended 31st December, 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its principal subsidiaries are engaged in factoring related 
business in the PRC. The analysis of revenue and segment information of the Group during the year is set 
out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2023 are set out in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 71 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

A special dividend in respect of the year ended 31st December, 2023 of HK0.84 cents per ordinary shares, 
in aggregate amount of RMB8,896,000 were approved by the Board on 14th December, 2023 and were 
subsequently paid in January 2024. Subsequent to the end of reporting period, a final dividend in respect 
of the year ended 31st December, 2023 of HK0.43 cents (2022: Nil) per ordinary share, in an aggregate 
amount of RMB4,558,000 (2022: nil), has been proposed by the Directors and is subject to approval by 
the shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting. Together with the special dividend of HK0.84 cents 
per ordinary share paid to the shareholders in January 2024, the total dividend for the year ended 31st 
December, 2023 amounts to HK1.27 cents per ordinary share (2022: Nil). The final dividend, if approved 
by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting, is expected to be payable on or around 
19th June, 2024.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the past financial years is set out on page 
128 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year ended 31st 
December, 2023 are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital as at 31st December, 2023 are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries repurchased, sold or redeemed any of 
the shares in the Company.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31st December, 2023, which 
represent the share premium, contributed surplus and accumulated losses, were RMB155,005,000.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Company and a discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance using financial 
key performance indicators during the year ended 31st December, 2023 and the material factors underlying 
its results and financial position are set out in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and 
Analysis on pages 3 to 15 of the Annual Report.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

1. Credit risk

Credit risk is the primary risk that we face in our Factoring Operations. Credit risk arises from the 
inability or unwillingness of our customers, or the underlying debtors to make timely payments to 
us and/or to perform their contractual obligations. Our credit risk management measures were 
implemented to control credit risk. Details of the risk management measures are set out in pages 6 
to 12 of Management Discussion and Analysis.

2. Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the risk of losses in the Group’s overall income and economic value resulting 
from adverse movements in interest rates, maturity structure and other factors. Profit margins of the 
Group may be narrowed down as a result of the fluctuation in market interest rates. We primarily 
manage the interest rate risk through balancing the repricing periods of the assets and its corresponding 
liabilities.

3. Operational risk

Operational risk refers to the risk of losses resulting from imperfect or problematic internal process, 
personnel and system or external events. We control or reduce operational risks by establishing a sound 
internal control system and management system, cultivating employees to develop good professional 
ethics, continuously improving the process of Factoring Operation, formulating rigorous and meticulous 
commercial factoring contracts, and establishing an advanced information management system.

4. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk of us not having sufficient funds to meet our liabilities as they fall due. 
This may arise from mismatch in amount or duration in respect of the maturity of our financial assets 
and liabilities. The duration of most of our factoring transactions are less than a year. Our target of 
liquidity risk management is to maintain moderate liquidity reserves and sufficient funding resources 
to adequately meet the repayment needs of matured liabilities and the funding needs of business 
development, and to achieve a higher profit margins level and control the liquidity management costs 
on conditions that liquidity risks have been well managed.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

As an environmentally responsible company, the Group is committed to continuously cling to environmental 
protection and observe the concept of sustainable development. Being part of a leading state-owned 
enterprise in China, the Group attaches great importance to corporate integrity and production safety while 
emphasising social responsibility.

More information of the Group’s environmental performance is set out in the section headed “Environmental, 
Social and Governance Report” on pages 29 to 51.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES AND CUSTOMERS

The Group believes that employees are important assets and provides competitive remuneration packages to 
attract and retain employees. The management regularly reviews the Group’s remuneration to its employees 
is up to prevailing market standard.

The Group values mutually beneficial long standing relationships with its customers. The Group aims at 
developing on mutual trust among its customers.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors
Mr. Wu Yinghua (Chairman of the Board) (appointed on 12th January, 2024)
Mr. Yu Guangshan (re-designated on 12th January, 2024)
Mr. Pan Mingfeng
Mr. Wu Shengquan (appointed on 11th April, 2023)
Mr. Bai Zhaoxiang (resigned on 11th April, 2023)

Non-executive directors
Mr. Li Biao
Mr. Hu Huaimin (Vice Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Liu Debing (resigned on 12th January, 2024)

Independent non-executive directors
Dr. Liu Yongping
Mr. Cheung Ting Kee
Ms. Zhang Yan (appointed on 4th September, 2023)
Ms. Qian Ying (resigned on 19th June, 2023)

In accordance with article 108(A) of the Company’s articles of association, Mr. Hu Huaimin, Mr. Pan Mingfeng 
and Mr. Cheung Ting Kee will retire by rotation and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at 
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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In accordance with article 112 of the Company’s articles of association, Ms. Zhang Yan, and Mr. Wu 
Yinghua whose appointment as director of the Company took effect from 4th September, 2023 and 12th 
January, 2024 respectively shall hold office only until the next annual general meeting of the Company and 
shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting.

CONFIRMATION BY INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation 
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all the independent 
non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, no Directors or their associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a 
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The basis of determining the remuneration payable to the Directors is set out in the Corporate Governance 
Report on page 25 of the annual report. Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in Note 7 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors (including those being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting of the Company) has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is 
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory 
compensation.

The term of office of each of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors is 
the period up to his retirement by rotation as required by the Company’s articles of association.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 52 to 54 of the annual report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Options” in page 60 of the annual report, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OR 
ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION OF THE COMPANY

As at 31st December, 2023, the interests of each Director and their associates in the shares, underlying 
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of 
the SFO, which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions in which he was deemed or taken to 
have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to 
be entered in the register maintained by the Company referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant 
to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
were as follows:

Name

Name of the
Company/associated
corporation Capacity

Number of
ordinary

shares

Approximate
percentage of

issued share
capital of the

Company
(Note i) (Note ii)     

Hu Huaimin The Company Beneficial Owner 2,424,666 (L) 0.21%
Li Biao The Company Beneficial Owner 690,640 (L) 0.06%
     

Notes:

i. The letter “L” represents the Director’s long position in the ordinary shares of the Company.

ii. The percentage of issued share capital of the Company is calculated by reference to 1,168,626,516 shares in issue as at 31st 
December, 2023.

Other than as disclosed above and in this annual report, none of the Directors, chief executives nor their 
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debenture of the Company 
or any of its associated corporations as at 31st December, 2023.
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SHARE OPTIONS

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 20th May, 2021, a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted. 
The Scheme is for the primary purpose of providing incentives or rewards to selected participants for 
their contribution to the Group. The Scheme is valid for 10 years from the date of its adoption. Under the 
Scheme, the Directors may, at their discretion, invite any person belonging to any of the following classes 
of participants to take up options to subscribe for shares in the Company:

(a) any employee (whether full time or part time) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity in 
which the Group holds an equity interest (“Invested Entity”), including any executive Director of the 
Company, any of such subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(b) any non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) of the Company, any of 
its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(d) any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(e) any person or entity that provides research, development or other technological support to the Group 
or any Invested Entity;

(f) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities 
issued by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(g) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of business or business development 
of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

(h) any other group or classes of participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of joint 
venture, business alliance or other business arrangement to the development and growth of the Group 
and, for the purposes of the Scheme, the offer of share options may be granted to any company 
wholly owned by one or more persons belonging to any of the above classes of participants.

For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by the Company for the subscription of shares in 
the Company or other securities of the Group to any person who fall within any of the above classes of 
participants shall not, solely by itself, unless the directors otherwise determine, be construed as a grant 
of option under the Scheme.

The basis of eligibility of any of the above classes of participants to the grant of any options shall be 
determined by the directors from time to time.
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The total number of the Company’s shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all the options to be 
granted under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company must not, in aggregate, 
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of approval of the adoption of the 
Scheme initially. The maximum number of the Company’s shares to be issued upon the exercise of share 
options that may be granted under the Scheme under such initial mandate limit is 116,862,651 shares of 
the Company. The Company may seek approval of the shareholders of the Company in general meetings 
to refresh the 10% initial mandate limit. Notwithstanding that the mandate limit may be refreshed, the board 
of directors of the Company shall not grant options which would result in the maximum aggregate number 
of the Company’s shares which may be issued upon exercise of all the outstanding options granted but 
yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company which entitle 
the holders to acquire or subscribe for the Company’s shares exceeding, in aggregate, 30% of the issued 
share capital of the Company from time to time.

The subscription price for shares under the Scheme shall be a price determined by the Directors, but shall 
not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock 
Exchange’s daily quotations on the date of the offer for grant; (ii) the average closing price of the shares of 
the Company as stated in the daily quotations of the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately 
preceding the date of the offer for grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of the Company.

As at 31st December, 2023, no outstanding share options under the Scheme.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the Scheme disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company, or any of its holding 
companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the 
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any 
other body corporate. Further, save for the Scheme, the Group had not issued or granted any convertible 
securities, options, warrants or other similar rights during the year. As at 31st December, 2023, the Group 
had no redeemable securities.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance, to which the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries and 
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company or his/her connected entities had a 
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following are the continuing connected transactions that took place during the year ended 31st 
December, 2023.
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Factoring agreements with YDRE and its project companies

On 22nd September, 2020, Yueda Commercial Factoring, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company entered into a factoring agreement (the “2020 Factoring Agreement”) with Yueda Real Estate Group 
Company Limited (“YDRE”) and the project companies of YDRE. On 19th October, 2023, Yueda Commercial 
Factoring entered into another factoring agreement with YDRE and the project companies of YDRE (the 
“2023 Factoring Agreement”). The 2020 Factoring Agreement and 2023 Factoring Agreement are the master 
agreement which sets out the principles upon which detailed terms of the definitive agreements are to be 
determined. Definitive factoring agreements shall be entered into between Yueda Commercial Factoring and 
the project companies upon the grant of the factoring financing and detailed terms, including the interest 
rate and factoring management fees (collectively, the “Annual Interest and Factoring Administration Fees”), 
the term of the factoring financing and the repayment schedule of each transaction will be determined in 
accordance with the principles set out in the 2020 Factoring Agreement and 2023 Factoring Agreement. 
Pursuant to the 2020 Factoring Agreement and 2023 Factoring Agreement, Yueda Commercial Factoring 
offered a revolving credit limit of RMB180,000,000, which is to be shared among the project companies and 
the Annual Interest and Fees shall range from 9.5% to 10.5% and 7.8% to 8.2% of the financing principal 
under 2020 Factoring Agreement and 2023 Factoring Agreement, respectively. The available period of the 
factoring facilities under 2020 Factoring Agreement and 2023 Factoring Agreement was from 1st October, 
2020 to 30th September 2023 and from 1st December, 2023 to 30th November, 2026, respectively. YDRE 
guarantees the repayment by project companies. As approximately 66.36% of the issued shares of YDRE 
is owned by Yue Da Group (H.K.) Co., Limited (“YDHK”), which is a shareholder of the Company and 
accordingly YDRE is a connected party. These transactions constituted continuing connected transactions 
of the Company and are subject to announcement and reporting requirements under Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules, details of which were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 22nd September, 
2020 and 19th October, 2023. During the year ended 31st December, 2023, the total Annual Interest and 
Factoring Administration Fees of RMB9,720,000 under the 2020 Factoring Agreement and 2023 Factoring 
Agreement were recorded. As at 31st December, 2023, the outstanding principal financing receivables 
under the 2020 Factoring Agreement and 2023 Factoring Agreement is nil and RMB44,800,000 respectively.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the auditor of the Company to perform 
certain agreed-upon procedures in respect of the continuing connected transactions of the Group. The 
Company’s auditor has reported the factual findings on these procedures to the Board. The Company also 
engaged a professional internal control consultant to review continuing connected transactions and the 
relevant internal control procedures. Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and the report of the auditor and 
have confirmed that the transactions were entered into by the Group in the ordinary course of its business; 
on normal commercial terms, or on terms no less favourable than terms available to or from (as the case 
may be) independent third parties, and in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing such 
transactions that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a 
whole.

Other connected transactions

During the year ended 31st December, 2023, the Group has paid the short-term leases expenses to YDHK 
for the amount of RMB1,563,000 pursuant with the agreements with YDHK dated 30th December, 2022.
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During the year ended 31st December, 2023, the additions to right-of-use assets of RMB4,328,000 is in 
accordance with the lease agreements entered between the Group and YDHK dated 30th June, 2023. 
The details of which were disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 30th June, 2023 and 
7th July, 2023.

Details of the above connected transactions which are also the related parties transactions under the 
accounting standards for preparing the financial statements of the Company are set out in Notes 14 and 
31 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONTROLLING AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTEREST

The register of controlling and substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to section 
336 of the SFO shows that as at 31st December, 2023, the following shareholders had an interest of 5% 
or more in the issued share capital of the Company:

Name

Name of the
company/
associated
corporation Capacity

Number of
issued ordinary

shares held

Percentage of the
issued share capital

of the Company
(Note i) (Note ii)     

Yueda Capital (HK) Limited 
 (“Yue Da Capital HK”)

The Company Beneficial owner 600,000,000 (L) 51.34%

YDHK The Company Beneficial owner 208,979,333 (L) 17.88%
Yueda Capital Company 
 Limited (Note iii)

The Company Interest of a controlled 
 corporation

600,000,000 (L) 51.34%

Jiangsu Yue Da Group 
 Company Limited (Note iii)

The Company Interest of a controlled 
 corporation

808,979,333 (L) 69.22%

     

Notes:

(i) The letter “L” represents the entity’s long positions in the shares.

(ii) The percentage of issued share capital of the Company is calculated by reference to 1,168,626,516 shares in issue as at 31st 
December, 2023.

(iii) Jiangsu Yue Da Group Company Limited holds 100% interests in YDHK and 61.03% interests in Yueda Capital Company Limited 
which holds 100% interest in Yue Da Capital HK and is accordingly deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company 
beneficially owned by YDHK and Yue Da Capital HK under the SFO.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other persons who as at 31st 
December, 2023, had interests of 5% or more in any shares or underlying shares of the Company.
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OTHER DIRECTORS’ INTEREST

As at the date of this report, the following Directors were also a director or an employee of the following 
companies, each of which had or was deemed to have an interest or short position in the shares or underlying 
shares in respect of equity derivatives of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company 
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Name of Director
Name of substantial 
shareholder of the Company

Position in substantial 
shareholder of the Company   

Mr. Wu Yinghua Yueda Capital Company Limited Director
Yue Da Capital HK Director

Mr. Li Biao YDHK Director
Mr. Wu Shengquan Yue Da Capital HK Director

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers during the year accounted for 
approximately 15.9% of the Group’s total revenue and the largest customer accounted for approximately 
6.8% of the Group’s total revenue.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of factoring services, accounts receivable management 
and collection services and accounts receivable consultancy services. The Group does not have any major 
suppliers.

So far is known to the Board, except for project companies of YDRE, which is a subsidiary of the ultimate 
controlling shareholder of the Company, details are set out in “Connected Transaction and Continuing 
Connected Transactions” in the Directors’ Report, the Directors, their associates and substantial shareholders 
of the Company did not have any interest in the suppliers or customers as disclosed above as at 31st 
December, 2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out 
of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the 
execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors 
and officers of the Group throughout the year.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the Remuneration Committee on the 
basis of the employees’ merit, qualifications and competence.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive for directors and eligible employees. 
Details of the scheme are set out in the section headed “Share Options” in this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association, or the laws of 
the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing 
shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31st December, 2023.

REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries repurchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities 
of the Company during the year.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31st December, 2023 were audited by Messrs. 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-appoint 
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wu Yinghua
CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong
20th March, 2024
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YUE DA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
悅達國際控股有限公司

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yue Da International Holdings Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 71 to 127, which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st December, 2023, and the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at 31st December, 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and 
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and 
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the 
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is that matter that, in our professional judgment, was of most significance in our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the context of 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on this matter.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of factoring receivables

We identified the impairment assessment of 
factoring receivables as a key audit matter due 
to its significance to the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and the use of judgement 
exercised by the management of the Group in 
estimating the expected credit losses (“ECL”) on 
factoring receivables.

The carrying amount of factoring receivables was 
approximately RMB630,940,000, net of impairment 
allowance of RMB7,423,000, as at 31st December, 
2023 and which represented approximately 86% 
of the total assets. As disclosed in Note 16 to 
the consolidated financial statements, as at 31st 
December, 2023, the carrying amount of traditional 
factoring receivables and communications 
factoring receivables was RMB449,642,000 and 
RMB181,298,000, respectively.

As disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated 
financial statements, in performing the impairment 
assessment of factoring receivables, the ECL 
of the factoring receivables were assessed by 
the management after taking into account of 
the historical loss experience, collaterals and 
guarantees that are integral to the contractual 
terms, financial condition of borrowers for the 
probability of default and loss given default, as 
well as forward-looking information.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment 
assessment of factoring receivables included:

• Obtaining an understanding of the management’s 
methodology for determining allowance for 
impairment on factoring receivables;

• Eva luat ing the reasonableness of  the 
management’s assessment of the internal credit 
rating and basis of estimated loss rates applied to 
the individual assessment on traditional factoring 
receivables or to the collective assessment 
on communications factoring receivables by 
reference to historical loss experience, collaterals 
and guarantees that are integral to the contractual 
terms, financial condition of borrowers;

• Engaging our internal valuation specialist to 
evaluate the appropriateness of the significant 
assumptions used in the ECL model, including 
probability of default, loss given default and 
forward-looking information; and

• Assessing the appropriateness of source data, 
on a sample basis, used in the ECL model.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement. 
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this 
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken 
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Leung Po Shan.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
20th March, 2024
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2023 2022
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000    

Revenue 5
 Income from traditional factoring business 31,009 26,883
 Income from communications factoring business 57,478 75,735    

88,487 102,618
Other income 533 319
Other gains and losses, net 6 (1,735) 9,939
Gain from fair value changes of financial assets at 
 fair value through profit or loss 4,638 6,984
Reversal of (recognition of) impairment losses
 under expected credit losses model, net 33 8,518 (2,988)
Guarantee and service fees for communications 
 factoring business (30,814) (30,311)
Staff costs (10,483) (9,279)
Depreciation expenses (2,156) (710)
Other expenses (11,549) (7,197)
Finance costs 8 (18,962) (18,735)    

Profit before tax 26,477 50,640
Income tax expense 9 (11,285) (20,097)    

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 10 15,192 30,543
    

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 
 attributable to owners of the Company 15,192 30,543    

Earnings per share
 –  Basic 11 RMB1.30 cents RMB2.61 cents
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2023 2022
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000    

Non-current Assets
 Property, plant and equipment 13 71 160
 Right-of-use assets 14 3,351 613
 Deferred tax assets 24 1,856 3,985
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 15 41,338 89,752
 Factoring receivables and other assets 16 61,039 143,505    

107,655 238,015    

Current Assets
 Factoring receivables and other assets 16 576,827 632,907
 Amounts due from related parties 17 8,676 7,933
 Cash and cash equivalents 18 41,061 26,267    

626,564 667,107    

Current Liabilities
 Other payables and liabilities 19 18,606 14,639
 Amounts due to related parties 17 87,584 72,055
 Amounts due to directors 20 227 609
 Taxation payable 1,030 4,845
 Bank and other borrowings 21 50,000 90,000
 Obligations arising from asset-backed financing 
  arrangements 22 76,490 213,665
 Lease liabilities 23 3,387 541
 Dividends payable 8,896 –    

246,220 396,354    

Net Current Assets 380,344 270,753    

Total Assets Less Current Liabilities 487,999 508,768
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2023 2022
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000    

Capital and Reserves
 Share capital 25 105,965 105,965
 Reserves 325,733 319,437    

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 431,698 425,402    

Non-current Liabilities
 Obligations arising from asset-backed 
  financing arrangements 22 42,095 66,864
 Lease liabilities 23 60 210
 Deferred tax liabilities 24 14,146 16,292    

56,301 83,366    

487,999 508,768
    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 71 to 127 were approved and authorised for issue by the 
board of directors on 20th March, 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

  

Yu Guangshan Wu Shengquan
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Attributable to owners of the Company 

Share 
capital

Share
premium

Non-
distributable

reserves
Special
reserve

Capital
contribution

Accumulated
losses Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note iv) (Note i) (Note ii) (Note iii)        

At 1st January, 2022 105,965 967,576 9,405 157,178 23,949 (869,214) 394,859
Profit and total comprehensive 
 income for the year – – – – – 30,543 30,543
Transfer – – 4,492 – – (4,492) –        

At 31st December, 2022 105,965 967,576 13,897 157,178 23,949 (843,163) 425,402
Profit and total comprehensive 
 income for the year – – – – – 15,192 15,192
Special dividends declared 
 (Note 12) – (8,896) – – – – (8,896)
Transfer – – 3,290 – – (3,290) –        

At 31st December, 2023 105,965 958,680 17,187 157,178 23,949 (831,261) 431,698
        

Notes:

(i) The non-distributable reserves represent statutory reserves appropriated from the profit after tax of the Company’s subsidiaries 
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) under the PRC laws and regulations.

(ii) The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company and the 
nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation in 2001 and the surplus 
arising on the capitalisation of an amount payable to a fellow subsidiary as part of the group reorganisation.

(iii) The capital contribution represents deemed contribution from the ultimate parent and a shareholder arising from certain 
transactions with the Company in prior years.

(iv) Pursuant to the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account is distributable to the shareholders 
of the Company, provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company 
will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 26,477 50,640
Adjustments for:
 Finance costs 18,962 18,735
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 94 99
 Depreciation of right-of-use assets 2,062 611
 Loss (gain) on remeasurement of financial guarantee 
  contracts 5,529 (9,854)
 Gain from fair value changes of financial assets 
  at fair value through profit or loss (4,638) (6,984)
 Gain on early settlements of obligations arising from 
  assets-based financing arrangements (3,859) –

 (Reversal of) recognition of impairment losses
  under expected credit losses model, net (8,518) 2,988
 Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 3
 Interest income from bank deposits (282) (308)
 Net foreign exchange loss (gain) 63 (88)   

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 35,892 55,842
Decrease (increase) in factoring receivables 147,538 (98,811)
(Increase) decrease in other assets (6,002) 1,428
Increase in other payables 3,858 691
Decrease in contract liabilities – (3,531)   

CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATIONS 181,286 (44,381)
Income tax paid (15,117) (10,274)   

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 166,169 (54,655)   

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received from bank deposits 282 308
Subscription of financial assets at fair value through 
 profit or loss (16,000) (70,882)
Advance to related parties (642) (1,156)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (7) –   

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (16,367) (71,730)   
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2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of obligations arising from
 asset-backed financing arrangements (246,023) (254,928)
Repayment of bank borrowings (135,000) (50,000)
Repayment to a related party (70,611) (303,847)
Interest paid on obligations arising from
 asset-backed financing arrangements (14,884) (15,948)
Interest paid on bank and other borrowings
 and lease liabilities (4,078) (2,787)
Repayment of lease liabilities (2,105) (549)
Repayment to directors (609) (566)
Obligations arising from asset-backed 
 financing arrangements raised 156,990 523,571
New bank and other borrowings raised 95,000 90,000
Advance from related parties 86,156 142,679
Advance from directors 227 544   

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (134,937) 128,169   

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 14,865 1,784

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (71) 29

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 26,267 24,454   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR
 represented by bank balances and cash 41,061 26,267
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is incorporated and registered as an exempted company in the Cayman Islands under 
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands with limited liability. The shares of the Company are listed 
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company’s parent is 
Yueda Capital (HK) Limited (“Yue Da Capital HK”), a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited 
liability, and the Company’s ultimate parent is Jiangsu Yue Da Group Company Limited (“Jiangsu 
Yue Da”), a state-owned enterprise established with limited liability in the PRC. The addresses of 
the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate 
information of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activity of its subsidiaries is Factoring 
Business (as defined in Note 5).

As all of the Group’s operations are in the PRC, the consolidated financial statements are presented 
in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”)

2.1 New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current 
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued 
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which 
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1st January, 2023 for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and 
 February 2022 Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities 

 arising from a Single Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform-Pillar Two Model 

 Rules
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice 
 Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current 
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current 
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) – CONTINUED

2.1 New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current 
year – Continued

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation 
of Financial Statements is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting 
policies” with “material accounting policy information”. Accounting policy information is material 
if, when considered together with other information included in an entity’s financial statements, 
it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose 
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may be material because of the 
nature of the related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. 
However, not all accounting policy information relating to material transactions, other events 
or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy 
information, such information must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also 
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting 
policy disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting policy is material to its 
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions 
and performance but has affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set out in 
Note 3.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) – CONTINUED

2.2 Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued 
but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 
 and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
 Associate or Joint Venture1

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and 
 related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants2

Amendments to HKAS 7 and 
 HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements2

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability3

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2024
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2025

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the 
application of all other amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non- current and 
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and 
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the assessment of right 
to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of liabilities 
as current or non-current, which:

• clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its 
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect 
its classification as current or non-current only if the entity recognises the option separately 
as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

• specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should be based on rights 
that are in existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments clarify 
that the classification should not be affected by management intentions or expectations to 
settle the liability within 12 months.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) – CONTINUED

2.2 Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective – Continued

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non- current and 
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and 
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”) 
– Continued

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date which are conditional 
on the compliance with covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020 Amendments have 
been modified by the 2022 Amendments. The 2022 Amendments specify that only covenants 
with which an entity is required to comply with on or before the end of the reporting period affect 
the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting 
date. Covenants which are required to comply with only after the reporting period do not affect 
whether that right exists at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure requirements about information that 
enables users of financial statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could become 
repayable within twelve months after the reporting period, if an entity classifies liabilities arising 
from loan arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right to defer settlement of those 
liabilities is subject to the entity complying with covenants within twelve months after the reporting 
period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of applying the 2020 Amendments to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2024. The 2022 Amendments, together 
with the 2020 Amendments, are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1st 
January, 2024, with early application permitted. If an entity applies the 2020 Amendments for 
an earlier period after the issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply the 2022 
Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31st December, 2023, the application of the 
2020 and 2022 Amendments will not result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued 
by HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information 
is considered material if such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by 
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures 
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

3.2 Material accounting policy information 

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and 
entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION – CONTINUED

3.2 Material accounting policy information – Continued

Basis of consolidation – Continued

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a 
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until 
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is 
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results 
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit 
before tax because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items 
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax 
rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in 
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in 
a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable 
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal 
taxable and deductible temporary differences.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION – CONTINUED

3.2 Material accounting policy information – Continued

Taxation – Continued

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred 
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments are 
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against 
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in 
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover 
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group recognises 
the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the 
tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the 
Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. 
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
are not recognised due to application of the initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences 
arising from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, 
resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject 
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to 
the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION – CONTINUED

3.2 Material accounting policy information – Continued

Reimbursement assets

Financial guarantee contracts held by the Group that are not integral to the related communications 
factoring receivables are separately accounted for, which are measured at the higher of:

• the premium paid over the period of the related guarantees; and

• any reimbursement right.

Reimbursement assets are recognised if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received 
when there is a default of the related communications factoring receivables and the amount can 
be measured reliably.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial 
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales 
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other 
than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) are added to or deducted from 
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. 
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or 
financial liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and 
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of 
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION – CONTINUED

3.2 Material accounting policy information – Continued

Financial instruments – Continued

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business (i.e. Factoring 
Business as defined in Note 5) are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual 
cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets 
measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the 
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial 
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that 
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the 
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting 
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the 
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the 
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning 
of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION – CONTINUED

3.2 Material accounting policy information – Continued

Financial instruments – Continued

Financial assets – Continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets – Continued

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with 
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised 
in profit or loss includes any interest earned on the financial asset and is presented as 
“gain from fair value changes of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on 
financial assets (including factoring receivables, other assets, amounts due from related parties, 
and cash and cash equivalents), which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount 
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion 
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months 
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions 
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast 
of future conditions.

The Group always measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition in which case, the Group recognises 
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant 
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.



872023 Annual Report 

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION – CONTINUED

3.2 Material accounting policy information – Continued

Financial instruments – Continued

Financial assets – Continued

Impairment of financial assets – Continued

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the 
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date 
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and 
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience 
and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit 
risk has increased significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if 
available) or internal credit rating;

• significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant 
increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions 
that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its 
debt obligations;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or 
technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the 
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit 
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more 
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that 
demonstrates otherwise.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION – CONTINUED

3.2 Material accounting policy information – Continued

Financial instruments – Continued

Financial assets – Continued

Impairment of financial assets – Continued

(i) Significant increase in credit risk – Continued

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that 
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount 
becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when 
information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor 
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any 
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial 
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that 
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the 
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that 
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or



892023 Annual Report 

For the year ended 31st December, 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION – CONTINUED

3.2 Material accounting policy information – Continued

Financial instruments – Continued

Financial assets – Continued

Impairment of financial assets – Continued

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets – Continued

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the 
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, 
for example, when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into 
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement 
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where 
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are 
recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. 
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment 
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by 
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted 
amount that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the 
Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, 
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. The estimate of 
expected cash shortfalls reflect the cash flows expected from collateral and other credit 
enhancements such as guarantees that are integral to the contractual terms and are not 
recognised separately by the Group.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION – CONTINUED

3.2 Material accounting policy information – Continued

Financial instruments – Continued

Financial assets – Continued

Impairment of financial assets – Continued

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL – Continued

Lifetime ECL for communications factoring receivables are considered on a collective 
basis taking into consideration past due information and relevant credit information such 
as forward looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following characteristics 
when formulating the grouping:

• Past-due status; and

• External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each 
group continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset 
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated 
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group retains substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the 
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised 
in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION – CONTINUED

3.2 Material accounting policy information – Continued

Financial instruments – Continued

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities 
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and 
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity 
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at 
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group’s financial liabilities (including other payables, bank and other borrowings, obligations 
arising from asset-backed financing arrangements and amounts due to related parties/directors) 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors of the Company are required 
to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only 
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods. The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources 
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment assessment of factoring receivables

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on traditional factoring receivables 
individually. In addition, for communications factoring receivables which are individually insignificant or 
when the Group does not have reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue 
cost or effort to measure ECL on individual basis, collective assessment is performed by grouping 
debtors based on the Group’s internal credit ratings. A considerable amount of judgement is required 
in estimating the ultimate realisation of financial assets.

In performing the impairment assessment of factoring receivables, the ECL of the factoring receivables 
were assessed by the management after taking into account of the historical loss experience, collaterals 
and guarantees that are integral to the contractual terms, financial condition of borrowers for the 
probability of default and loss given default, as well as forward-looking information. The provision of 
ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.

The information about the ECL and the Group’s financial assets are disclosed in Notes 16 and 
33 respectively. As at 31st December, 2023, the carrying amounts of factoring receivables was 
RMB630,940,000 (2022: RMB763,635,000), net of allowance for impairment of RMB7,423,000 (2022: 
RMB15,941,000).
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue

Revenue represents interest income received and receivable from provision of traditional and 
communications factoring services. An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Income from traditional factoring business (Note) 31,009 26,883
Income from communications factoring business 57,478 75,735   

88,487 102,618
   

Note: Included in income from traditional factoring business is an amount of RMB7,629,000 (2022: RMB5,003,000) representing 
fees that are considered to form an integral part of the effective interest rate of the traditional factoring receivables and is 
treated as an adjustment to the effective interest rate. Such fees may include compensation for activities such as evaluating 
the borrower’s financial condition, evaluating and recording guarantees, negotiating the terms of the instrument, preparing 
and processing documents and closing the transaction.

Segment information

Information reported to the chief operating decision maker of the Group, being the executive directors 
of the Company, for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment focuses on revenue analysis 
by traditional and communications factoring business (“Factoring Business”). No other discrete financial 
information is provided other than the Group’s result and financial position as a whole. Accordingly, 
only entity-wide disclosures, major customers and geographic information are presented.

Geographical information

All of external revenues of the Group in both years are attributable to customers established in the 
PRC, the place of domicile of the Group’s major operating entities. As at 31st December, 2023, the 
Group’s non-current assets excluding those related to financial instruments and deferred tax assets 
of RMB208,000 (2022: RMB690,000) and RMB3,214,000 (2022: RMB83,000) are located in the PRC 
and Hong Kong, respectively.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION – CONTINUED

Segment information – Continued

Information about major customers

The Group does not have any revenue from individual customer contributing over 10% of the total 
revenue of the Group during the year ended 31st December, 2023 and 2022.

6. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Net foreign exchange (loss) gain (63) 88
(Loss) gain on remeasurement of financial guarantee 
 contracts (5,529) 9,854
Gain on early settlements of obligations arising from 
 assets-backed financing arrangements 3,859 –

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (2) (3)   

(1,735) 9,939
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7. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eleven (2022: eleven) directors and the chief executive 
were as follows:

2023

Executive directors Non-executive directors Independent non-executive directors

Chief

Executive    
Mr. Pan

Mingfeng

Mr. Wu

 Shengquan

Mr. Bai

Zhaoxiang

Mr. Liu

Debing

Mr. Li

Biao

Mr. Hu

Huaimin

Mr. Yu

Guangshan

Dr. Liu

Yong Ping

Mr. Cheung

Ting Kee

Ms. Zhang

 Yan

Ms. Qian

Ying

Dr. Wong

Mun Kin Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note i) (Note ii) (Note iii) (Note iv) (Note viii)              

Fees – – – – – – – 214 214 – – – 428

Other emoluments

 Salaries 477 155 184 620 – 465 562 – – – – – 2,463

 Other benefits 44 69 40 55 – 159 44 – – – – 60 471

 Accommodation provided 

  by the Group – – – – – 163 – – – – – – 163

 Contributions to retirement 

  benefits schemes 72 55 11 114 – 109 71 – – – – 36 468              

Total emoluments 593 279 235 789 – 896 677 214 214 – – 96 3,993
              

2022

Executive directors Non-executive directors Independent non-executive directors

Chief

Executive    
Mr. Pan

Mingfeng

Mr. Bai

Zhaoxiang

Mr. Cai

Baoxiang

Mr. Liu

Debing

Mr. Li

Biao

Mr. Hu

Huaimin

Mr. Yu

Guangshan

Mr. Cui

Shu Ming

Dr. Liu

Yong Ping

Mr. Cheung

Ting Kee

Ms. Qian

Ying

Dr. Wong

Mun Kin Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note ii) (Note v) (Note vi) (Note vii) (Note iv) (Note viii)              

Fees – – – – – – – 82 214 214 – – 510

Other emoluments

 Salaries 716 422 62 487 – 447 280 – – – – – 2,414

 Other benefits 40 87 6 48 – 92 26 – – – – 47 346

 Contributions to retirement 

  benefits schemes 68 67 11 105 – 72 41 – – – – 30 394              

Total emoluments 824 576 79 640 – 611 347 82 214 214 – 77 3,664
              

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services in connection with 
the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.
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7. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION – CONTINUED

The non-executive directors’ and independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above 
were for their services as directors of the Company.

In addition to the directors’ remuneration disclosed above, certain non-executive directors and the 
chief executive are not paid directly by the Company but receive remuneration from the Company’s 
holding company, in respect of their services to the larger group which includes the Company and its 
subsidiaries. No apportionment has been made as the qualifying services provided by these directors 
to the Company and its subsidiaries are incidental to their responsibilities to the larger group.

Notes:

(i) The director was appointed as an executive director and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 11th April, 2023.

(ii) The director resigned on 11th April, 2023.

(iii) The director was appointed as independent non-executive director of the Company on 4th September, 2023.

(iv) The director was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 18th August, 2022 and resigned 
on 19th June, 2023.

(v) The director resigned on 23rd May, 2022.

(vi) The director was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company on 23rd May, 2022.

(vii) The director retired on 20th May, 2022.

(viii) The emoluments the chief executive disclosed above include those services rendered by him as the chief executive of the 
Company.

Out of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, three (2022: two) were directors 
of the Company whose emoluments are included in the disclosure above. The emoluments of the 
remaining two individuals (2022: three) are follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Salaries and other benefits 1,498 2,065
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes 98 150   

1,596 2,215
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7. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION – CONTINUED

Their emoluments were within the following band:

2023 2022
Number of 
employees

Number of
 employees   

Nil to HK$1,000,000 1 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 –
   

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid individuals (including 
directors, chief executive and employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as 
compensation for loss of office. Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors of the Company 
waived any emoluments during both years.

8. FINANCE COSTS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Interest on bank and other borrowings 3,917 2,723
Interest on obligations arising from 
 asset-backed financing arrangements 14,884 15,948
Interest on lease liabilities 161 64   

18,962 18,735
   

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Current tax
 –  PRC Enterprise Income tax (“EIT”) 9,854 12,558
 –  PRC withholding tax paid in respect of distribution  

 of earnings of the PRC subsidiary 1,250 750
 –  Underprovision in prior years – PRC EIT 198 692   

11,302 14,000
Deferred tax (Note 24) (17) 6,097   

11,285 20,097
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE – CONTINUED

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group’s income neither arises in, nor 
is derived from, Hong Kong.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and the Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, 
the applicable income tax rate for the PRC subsidiary of the Group is 25% for both years.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before tax per the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Profit before tax 26,477 50,640
   

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% (Note) 6,619 12,660
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 4,510 2,381
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (1,167) (128)
Underprovision in respect of prior year 198 692
Provision of withholding tax for income derived from 
 the PRC subsidiary 1,125 4,492   

Income tax expense 11,285 20,097
   

Note:  The domestic tax rate in the jurisdiction where the operation of the Group is substantially based is used.

10. PROFIT AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting) the 
following items:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Auditors’ remuneration (included in other expenses) 1,371 1,671
Legal and professional fee (included in other expenses) 3,308 2,239
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 94 99
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 2,062 611
Employee benefit expenses 
 (including directors’ emoluments) 10,483 9,279
Interest income from bank deposits 
 (included in other income) (282) (308)
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11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on 
the following data:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 
 for the purpose of basic earnings per share 15,192 30,543
   

Number of shares Number Number   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
 for the purposes of basic earnings per share 1,168,626,516 1,168,626,516
   

No diluted earnings per share for both years were presented as there were no potential ordinary 
shares in issue during both years.

12. DIVIDEND

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Special – HK0.84 cents (2022: nil) per ordinary share 8,896 –
   

A special dividend in respect of the year ended 31st December, 2023 of HK0.84 cents per ordinary 
share, in an aggregate amount of RMB8,896,000 was approved by the Board of directors of the 
Company on 14th December, 2023 and was subsequently paid in January 2024.

Subsequent to the end of reporting period, a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31st December, 
2023 of HK0.43 cents (2022: nil) per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount of RMB4,558,000 
(2022: Nil), has been proposed by the Directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders in the 
forthcoming general meeting.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold
improvement

Furniture,
fixtures and

equipment
Motor

vehicles Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note)     

COST
At 1st January, 2022 264 414 590 1,268
Disposals – (31) – (31)     

At 31st December, 2022 264 383 590 1,237
Additions – 7 – 7
Disposals – (24) – (24)     

At 31st December, 2023 264 366 590 1,220     

DEPRECIATION
At 1st January, 2022 44 372 590 1,006
Charge for the year 88 11 – 99
Eliminated on disposals – (28) – (28)     

At 31st December, 2022 132 355 590 1,077
Charge for the year 88 6 – 94
Eliminated on disposals – (22) – (22)     

At 31st December, 2023 220 339 590 1,149     

CARRYING VALUES
At 31st December, 2023 44 27 – 71
     

At 31st December, 2022 132 28 – 160
     

Note:  Motor vehicles are fully depreciated but still in use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment over their 
estimated useful lives using the straight-line method, as follows:

Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of 20 years or remaining terms of the lease
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Leased 
properties 

RMB’000  

As at 31st December, 2023
Carrying amount 3,351
  

As at 31st December, 2022
Carrying amount 613
  

For the year ended 31st December, 2023
Depreciation charge 2,062
  

For the year ended 31st December, 2022
Depreciation charge 611
  

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31st December, 2023, expense relating to short-term leases is RMB1,697,000 (2022: RMB148,000).

(ii) During the year ended 31st December, 2023, total cash outflow for leases is RMB3,963,000 (2022: RMB761,000).

(iii) During the year ended 31st December, 2023, additions to right-of-use assets is RMB4,781,000 (2022: nil) in which the 
amount of RMB4,328,000 (2022: nil) is accordance with the lease agreements entered between the Group and a related 
party).

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office premises and staff quarter (2022: 
staff quarter). The expense relating to short-term leases has increased during the year ended 31st 
December, 2023 mainly due to the addition of the short-term leases for office premises and staff 
quarter in 2023.

For both years, the Group leases various offices, staff quarters and office equipment for its operations. 
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of six months to three years (2022: six months to 
three years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different 
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable 
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract 
is enforceable.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in Note 23.

15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

Financial assets measured at FVTPL arising from:

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Subordinated tranches 41,338 89,752
   

Details of these subordinated tranches investments are disclosed in Notes 22 and 33.
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16. FACTORING RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Factoring receivables
 Traditional factoring business (Note i) 449,642 374,913
 Communications factoring business (Note ii) 181,298 388,722   

630,940 763,635
Reimbursement assets (Note iii) 4,325 9,854
Other receivables and prepayments 2,601 2,923   

637,866 776,412   

Analysed as:
 Current portion 576,827 632,907
 Non-current portion 61,039 143,505   

637,866 776,412
   

Notes:

(i) For traditional factoring business, as at 31st December, 2023, the carrying amount of traditional factoring receivables of 
RMB449,642,000 (2022: RMB374,913,000) were not past due. The range of interest rates and maturity dates attributed to 
the Group’s traditional factoring receivables was 7.5% to 9.4% (2022: 8.7% to 10.3%) per annum and from 29th February, 
2024 to 5th December, 2024 (2022: 22nd February, 2023 to 29th December, 2023), respectively. The management reviews 
and assesses for impairment of the traditional factoring receivables on an individual basis and continues to monitor any 
significant changes. All of the traditional factoring receivables are secured by receivables from borrowers amounting to 
RMB508,880,000 (2022: RMB507,435,000). As at 31st December, 2023 and 2022, all of the traditional factoring receivables 
are guaranteed by guarantors. The financial guarantee is integral to the contractual terms of the factoring arrangements. 
To measure the ECL, traditional factoring receivables have been assessed individually.

(ii) For communications factoring business, the Group cooperates with leading communications service providers in the PRC 
to provide financing service to large number of debtors with small size of loan amounts per each debtor. As the factoring 
receivables are individually insignificant and the Group does not have reasonable and supportable information that is 
available without undue cost or effort to measure ECL on individual basis, collective assessment is performed in estimating 
ECL. As at 31st December, 2023, the carrying amount of communications factoring receivables of RMB181,298,000 
(2022: RMB388,722,000) were not past due and out of the total amount, RMB14,524,000 (2022: RMB19,501,000) are 
fully secured by bank deposits from individual customers and RMB125,378,000 (2022: RMB262,194,000) is guaranteed by 
guarantors. The range of interest rates and maturity dates attributed to the Group’s communications factoring receivables 
was 9.9% to 26.7% (2022: 9.9% to 27.2%) per annum and from 10th January, 2024 to 20th December, 2026 (2022: 
10th January, 2023 to 20th December, 2025), respectively. The management reviews and assesses for impairment of the 
communications factoring receivables based on collective assessment and continues to monitor any significant changes. 
Financial guarantee contracts held by the Group are not integral to the communications factoring receivables and are 
separately accounted for by the Group.

As at 31st December, 2023, RMB97,225,000 (2022: RMB291,373,000) of the Group’s communications factoring 
receivables relate to the asset-back financing arrangements as disclosed in Note 22.

(iii) Reimbursement assets represent the amount that expected to be reimbursed by guarantors of the communications 
factoring receivables upon a default of settlement. The amount is recognised when, and only when it is virtually certain 
that reimbursement will be received when there is a default and the amount can be measured reliably.
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17. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED PARTIES

Due from

2023 2022
Name of related party Relationship Nature RMB’000 RMB’000     

Yue Da Mining Limited Fellow subsidiary Non-trade related 4,109 4,331
Yue Da Capital HK Immediate holding 

 company
Non-trade related

4,567 3,602     

8,676 7,933
     

Note:  The amounts due from related parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand for as at 31st December, 
2023 and 2022.

Due to

2023 2022
Name of related party Relationship Nature RMB’000 RMB’000     

Yueda Capital Company 
 Limited (“Yue Da Capital”)

Intermediate holding 
 company

Non-trade related
4 –

Yue Da Capital HK Immediate holding 
 company

Non-trade related
71,313 71,313

Yue Da Group (H.K.) Co., 
 Limited (“YDHK”)

Fellow subsidiary Non-trade related
3,838 742

Yueda Commercial 
 Factoring Co., Ltd.

Fellow subsidiary Non-trade related
12,429 –     

87,584 72,055
     

Note: The amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand as at 31st December, 2023 
and 2022.
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17. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED PARTIES – CONTINUED

The Group’s amounts due from/to related parties that are denominated in currencies other than the 
functional currency of the relevant group entity are set out below:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Amounts due from related parties
 United States Dollars (“US$”) 4,012 3,944
 Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”) 4,594 3,918
   

Amounts due to related parties HK$ 3,838 742
   

18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalent include demand deposits and short term deposits for the purpose of meeting 
the Group’s short term cash commitments, which carry interest at market rates which range from 
0.01% to 0.40% (2022: 0.01% to 0.40%) per annum.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents that are denominated in a currency other than the functional 
currency of the relevant group entity are set out below:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

US$ 1 1
HK$ 183 1,525
   

Details of impairment assessments of bank balances are set out in Note 33.
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19. OTHER PAYABLES AND LIABILITIES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Accrued staff costs 3,915 3,717
Other payables and accrued charges 14,691 10,922   

18,606 14,639
   

The Group’s other payables that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of 
the relevant group entity are set out below:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

HK$ 6,855 5,892
   

20. AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS

Amounts mainly represent the directors’ emolument payable. The amounts are unsecured, interest- 
free and repayable on demand. As at 31st December, 2023, the amounts include RMB227,000 
(2022: RMB223,000) which is denominated in HK$, a currency other than the functional currency of 
the relevant group entity.
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21. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Repayable within one year:
 Secured bank loan (Note i) 50,000 50,000
 Other loan (Note ii) – 40,000   

50,000 90,000
   

Notes:

(i) The amount due is based on scheduled repayment date set out in the loan agreement.

As at 31st December, 2023, the bank loan carried fixed interest rate of 5.5% per annum (2022: 6.3%). The maturity date 
attributed to the bank loan was 31st August, 2024 (2022: 22nd August, 2023).

As at 31st December, 2023 and 2022, the bank loan amounting RMB50,000,000 is secured by the Group’s factoring 
receivables with carrying amount of RMB50,000,000 and guaranteed by Jiangsu Yue Da.

(ii) As at 31st December, 2022, the Group has obtained other loan of RMB40,000,000 (2023: nil) from an independent third 
party and carried a fixed interest rate at 4.2% (2023: N/A) per annum. The maturity date attributed to the other loan was 
28th February, 2023. The loan was secured by the Group’s factoring receivables with carrying amount of RMB50,000,000 
(2023: N/A).
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22. OBLIGATIONS ARISING FROM ASSET-BACKED FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

The carrying amounts of the above obligations 
 are repayable:
 Within one year 76,490 213,665
 More than one year but less than two years 42,095 66,864
   

During the year ended 31st December, 2023 and 2022, the Group entered into several asset-
backed financing arrangements (the “Financing Arrangements”), the Financing Arrangements involved 
establishment of special purpose asset-backed vehicles through issuing agents (the “SPVs”) or special 
purpose trust administered by trustees (the “SPTs”). Under the schemes, contractual rights of factoring 
receivables (the “Transferred Assets”) are transferred to the SPVs/SPTs by the Group and a fellow 
subsidiary of the Company, except for one SPT scheme in which the Group is the sole transferor. 
The SPVs/SPTs then issued asset-backed securities to investors, the priority tranches of which were 
subscribed by independent investors whilst the subordinated tranches of which were subscribed by 
the Group and the fellow subsidiary proportional to the value of the Transferred Assets transferred by 
both parties. For the SPT scheme in which the Group is the sole transferor, the entire subordinated 
tranche was subscribed by the Group.

According to offering documents of the SPVs or trust agreements of the SPTs between the SPVs/
SPTs and investors (holders of priority and subordinated tranches), the decisions of the relevant 
activities are controlled by the holders of the priority tranches until such tranches are fully settled. As 
at 31st December, 2023 and 2022, the priority tranches of the SPVs/SPTs are still not fully settled. 
Accordingly, the Group as holders of subordinated tranches could not exercise control over the SPVs 
and SPTs thus the SPVs/SPTs are not consolidated.

Furthermore, pursuant to the agreements between the SPVs/SPTs and the transferors (the Group or 
the Group and the fellow subsidiary), the Group are required to repurchase the factoring receivables 
transferred to SPVs/SPTs when they are identified as non-performing and the Group has also retained 
risks and rewards through subscription of the subordinated tranches. The Group assessed and 
concluded that the Group has retained substantially all risks and rewards of the Transferred Assets 
and accordingly continues to recognise the factoring receivables and recognise obligations arising from 
these Financing Arrangements. As at 31st December, 2023, RMB97,225,000 (2022: RMB291,373,000) 
of the Group’s communications factoring receivables relate to these Financing Arrangements.
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22. OBLIGATIONS ARISING FROM ASSET-BACKED FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS – 
CONTINUED

At initial recognition, the obligations arising from these Financial Arrangements were measured at 
fair value, taking into consideration the Group’s borrowing rates and the estimated cash flows, 
which represent the cash consideration and the subordinated tranches received by the Group. 
These obligations are subsequently measured at amortised cost with effective interest rate at 6.73% 
(2022: 6.29% to 7.72%). As at 31st December, 2023, the carrying amounts of obligations due to 
SPVs and SPTs amounted to RMB118,585,000 and nil, respectively (2022: RMB179,197,000 and 
RMB101,332,000). Priority tranches issued by the SPVs are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange 
and the obligations payable to the priority tranches are guaranteed by the ultimate holding company 
of the Company.

The subordinated tranches subscribed and held by the Group constitute contractually linked 
instruments as the SPVs/SPTs prioritise payments to the holders of priority tranches prior to repaying 
the subordinated tranches. The Group has the right to payment only if the SPVs/SPTs have sufficient 
cashflow to satisfy the obligations payable to the holders of priority tranches. Accordingly, the 
contractual cash flows of the subordinated tranches are not solely payments of principal and interest 
and were measured at fair value at initial recognition and subsequently measured at fair value through 
profit and loss.

During the year ended 31st December, 2023, several Financing Arrangements were early settled. 
Accordingly, a gain on early settlements of Financing Arrangements amounting to RMB3,859,000 
were recognised in the profit or loss.

During the year ended 31st December, 2023, the fair value of subordinated tranches subscribed by 
the Group amounted to RMB36,700,000 (2022: RMB82,768,000) at initial recognition.

23. LEASE LIABILITIES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Lease liabilities payable:

Within one year 3,387 541
Within a period of more than one year but not 
 more than two years 60 210   

3,447 751

Less: Amount due for settlement within
    12 months shown under current liabilities (3,387) (541)   

Amount due for settlement after 
 12 months shown under non-current liabilities 60 210
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24. DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS) LIABILITIES

The followings are the major deferred tax (assets) liabilities recognised and movements thereof during 
the current and prior years:

Reimbursement
assets

Impairment
losses on
factoring

receivables

Distributable
profits of

subsidiaries Other Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

At 1st January, 2022 – (3,238) 9,448 – 6,210
Charge (credit) to profit or loss 2,464 (747) 4,492 638 6,847
Reversal upon payment of 
 withholding tax – – (750) – (750)      

At 31st December, 2022 2,464 (3,985) 13,190 638 12,307
(Credit) charge to profit or loss (1,383) 2,129 1,125 (638) 1,233
Reversal upon payment of 
 withholding tax – – (1,250) – (1,250)      

At 31st December, 2023 1,081 (1,856) 13,065 – 12,290
      

The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Deferred tax assets (1,856) (3,985)
Deferred tax liabilities 14,146 16,292   

12,290 12,307
   

25. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of
shares Amount

Shown in the
consolidated

financial
statements

HK$’000 RMB’000    

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each:

Authorised
 At 1st January, 2022, 31st December, 
  2022 and 31st December, 2023 2,000,000,000 200,000 N/A
    

Issued and fully paid
 At 1st January, 2022, 31st December, 
  2022 and 31st December, 2023 1,168,626,516 116,863 105,965
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26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS

The Scheme

A share option scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 20th May, 2021 (the 
“Scheme”). The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group to grant share options to the eligible 
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group. The Scheme is valid for 10 
years from the date of its adoption.

Under the Scheme, the board of directors of the Company may, at its discretion, invite any eligible 
participant to take up share options to subscribe for the shares of the Company at a price determined 
as set out below. The eligibility of any of the eligible participants is set out below.

The total number of the shares of the Company which may be issued upon the exercise of all the 
options to be granted under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company must 
not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of approval of 
the adoption of the Scheme initially. The maximum number of the shares of the Company to be issued 
upon the exercise of share options that may be granted under the Scheme under such initial mandate 
limit is 116,862,651 shares of the Company. The Company may seek approval of the shareholders of 
the Company in general meetings to refresh the 10% initial mandate limit. Notwithstanding that the 
mandate limit may be refreshed, the board of directors of the Company shall not grant options which 
would result in the maximum aggregate number of the shares of the Company which may be issued 
upon exercise of all the outstanding options granted but yet to be exercised under the Scheme and 
any other share option schemes of the Company which entitle the holders to acquire or subscribe for 
the shares of the Company exceeding, in aggregate, 30% of the issued share capital of the Company 
from time to time.

The subscription price in respect of any share option under the Scheme shall, subject to any adjustments 
made pursuant to the Scheme for the event of any alteration in the capital structure of the Company, 
be at the discretion of the directors of the Company, provided that it shall not be less than the 
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily 
quotations sheet for trade in one or more board lots of the shares of the Company on the offer date 
of share options, (ii) the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock 
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the offer date 
of share options, and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.
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26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS – CONTINUED

The Scheme – Continued

The eligibility of any of the eligible participants to an offer of share options under the Scheme shall 
be determined by the directors of the Company from time to time on the basis of the opinion of the 
directors of the Company as to his contribution to the development and growth of the Group. The 
eligible participants under the Scheme included:

(a) any employee (whether full time or part time) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity 
in which the Group holds an equity interest (“Invested Entity”), including any executive Director 
of the Company, any of such subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(b) any non-executive director (including independent non-executive director) of the Company, any 
of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(d) any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(e) any person or entity that provides research, development or other technological support to any 
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(f) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities 
issued by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(g) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of business or business 
development of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

(h) any other group or classes of participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of 
joint venture, business alliance or other business arrangement to the development and growth 
of the Group, and, for the purposes of the Scheme, the offer of share options may be made to 
any company wholly owned by one or more persons belonging to any of the above classes of 
participants.

The making of an offer of share options to any director of the Company, chief executive or substantial 
shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates must be approved by the independent 
non-executive directors of the Company (excluding any independent non-executive director of the 
Company who or whose associate is the proposed grantee of an option).

Options granted under the Scheme must be taken up not be later than 21 days from the offer date, 
upon payment of HK$1 per each grant.

As at 31st December, 2023 and 2022, no outstanding share options under the Scheme.
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27. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity 
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which include amounts due to related parties, 
bank and other borrowings, obligations arising from asset-backed financing arrangements, net of cash 
and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share 
capital and various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this 
review, the directors of the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each 
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group will balance 
its overall capital structure through new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new 
debts or the redemption of existing debts.

28. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including 
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash 
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows 
as cash flows from financing activities.

Lease
liabilities

Amounts due
to directors

Amounts due
to related

parties

Obligations
arising from

asset-backed
financing

arrangements

Bank
and other

borrowings Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000       

At 1st January, 2022 1,285 631 233,403 – 50,000 285,319
Financing cash flows (613) (22) (161,168) 252,695 37,277 128,169
Foreign exchange translation 15 – (180) – – (165)
Non-cash at initial recognition – – – 11,886 – 11,886
Interest expenses 64 – – 15,948 2,723 18,735       

As at 31st December, 2022 751 609 72,055 280,529 90,000 443,944
Financing cash flows (2,266) (382) 15,545 (103,917) (43,917) (134,937)
Foreign exchange translation 20 – (16) – – 4
Non-cash at initial recognition and
 early termination – – – (2,029) – (2,029)
Redemption of financial assets 
 at FVTPL – – – (70,882) – (70,882)
Interest expenses 161 – – 14,884 3,917 18,962
Recognition of lease liabilities 4,781 – – – – 4,781       

At 31st December, 2023 3,447 227 87,584 118,585 50,000 259,843
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29. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The relevant PRC subsidiary is required to make contributions to the state-managed retirement 
schemes in the PRC based on 20% (2022: 20%) of the monthly salaries of their current employees to 
fund the benefits. The employees are entitled to retirement pension calculated with reference to their 
basic salaries on retirement and their length of service in accordance with the relevant government 
regulations. The PRC government is responsible for the pension liability to these retired staffs.

In addition, the Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying 
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group, 
in funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% (2022: 5%) of the relevant payroll 
costs to the scheme, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 for the MPF Scheme 
which contribution is matched by employees. The Group also makes voluntary contribution in addition 
the mandatory contribution.

The total cost of RMB1,371,000 (2022: RMB1,168,000) recognised to profit or loss represents 
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group in respect of current year.

30. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

(i) As disclosed in Notes 16 and 21, the Group’s credit facilities were secured by the Group’s 
factoring receivables of RMB50,000,000 (2022: RMB100,000,000) in aggregate as at 31st 
December, 2023.

(ii) As disclosed in Note 22, the Group has the contractual obligations to transfer the cashflows 
relating to the Group’s communications factoring receivables of RMB97,225,000 as at 31st 
December, 2023 (2022: RMB291,373,000) under asset-backed financing arrangements.

31. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(i) The Group operates in an economic environment currently predominated by entities controlled, 
jointly controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC government. The Company is ultimately 
controlled by the PRC government. The Company’s parent is Yue Da Capital HK, a company 
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liabilities, and the Company’s ultimate parent is Jiangsu 
Yue Da, which is controlled by the Yancheng Municipal People’s Government.
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31. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES – CONTINUED

(i) Continued

(a) Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group has 
following transactions and balances with subsidiaries of Jiangsu Yue Da:

Name of related parties
Nature of transactions/
balances 2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000    

Fellow subsidiary
Yancheng Yue Da Tianhui 
 Real Estate Company Limited

Factoring receivables
– 2,310

Yancheng Yueda Zhiye 
 Development Limited

Factoring receivables
30,018 27,283

Dafeng Yuefeng Industrial 
 Company Limited

Factoring receivables
– 49,994

Jiangsu Yue Da Green Construction 
 Technology Company Limited

Income from traditional 
 factoring business 6,048 5,679

Jiangsu Yue Da Commercial 
 Properties Company Limited

Income from traditional 
 factoring business 2,972 5,392
Factoring receivables 14,764 90,777

Jiangsu Yueda Saifuna Energy Saving 
 Technology Company Limited

Income from traditional 
 factoring business 699 31

YDHK Short-term leases 
 expenses 1,563 –

    

Note: As at 31st December, 2023 and 2022, the factoring receivables balances were fully guaranteed by Yueda 
Real Estate Group Company Limited, a fellow subsidiary of the Company.

(b) Transactions and balances with other government related entities:

Apart from the transactions with related parties disclosed above, the Group also conducts 
business with other government related entities. The directors of the Company consider 
those government related entities are independent third parties so far as the Group’s 
business transactions with them are concerned.

In establishing its pricing strategies and approval process for transactions with other 
government related entities, the Group does not differentiate whether the counter-party is 
a government related entity or not.
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31. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES – CONTINUED

(ii) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and key management during the year, which is determined by the 
remuneration committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends, is 
as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Short-term benefits 4,396 4,045
Post-employment benefits 510 433   

4,906 4,478
   

32. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiary as at 31st December, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Country of 
establishment 
and operations Registered capital

Attributable equity 
interest held indirectly 

by the Company Principal activities

2023 2022
% %      

Yueda (Shenzhen) 
 Commercial Factoring 
 Co., Ltd. (Note)

PRC Registered capital –

 RMB400,000,000
100 100 Provision of factoring 

 services and accounts 
 receivable management 
 and collection services

Note: The company is wholly foreign-owned enterprise.

The above table list the subsidiary of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, 
principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in 
the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities at the end of the year.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVTPL 41,338 89,752
Financial assets at amortised cost 683,084 800,282
   

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 279,617 452,081
   

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include factoring receivables, other receivables (included in 
other assets), amounts due from related parties, cash and cash equivalents, other payables, amounts 
due to related parties/directors, bank and other borrowings, obligations arising from asset-backed 
financing arrangements, dividends payable and lease liabilities. Details of the financial instruments are 
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include market risk 
(currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how 
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures 
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i) Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency financial assets and liabilities which expose the Group to foreign 
currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and monetary liabilities which are 
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the relevant group entities at 
the end of the reporting period date are as follows:

Liabilities Assets

2023 2022 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000     

US$ – – 4,013 3,945
HK$ 14,158 6,916 4,853 5,502
     

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging policy. However, the management 
of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign 
exchange exposure should the need arises.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – CONTINUED

Financial risk management objectives and policies – Continued

Market risk – Continued

(i) Currency risk – Continued

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to HK$ and US$ exchange risk relative to RMB.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed as the management considers that the exposure is insignificant 
to the Group.

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed rate factoring receivables, 
bank and other borrowings, obligations arising from asset-backed financing arrangements and 
lease liabilities as set out in Notes 16, 21, 22 and 23 respectively. Currently, the Group does not 
have a hedging policy. However, management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider 
hedging significant fixed interest rate exposure should the need arise. The Group is also exposed 
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances (as set out in Note 18).

The management considers that the cash flow interest rate risk arising from deposits as included 
in cash and cash equivalents is insignificant having regard to the stable trend in interest rates 
and thus no material fluctuation is anticipated in the near future.

Total interest income from financial assets that are measured at amortised cost is as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Revenue
 Financial assets at amortised cost 88,487 102,618

Other income
 Financial assets at amortised cost 282 308
 Revenue/interest income under 
  effective interest method 88,769 102,926
   

Total interest expense from financial liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 18,801 18,671
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – CONTINUED

Financial risk management objectives and policies – Continued

Market risk – Continued

(iii) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to other price risk through its subordinated tranches arising from asset-
backed financing arrangements as disclosed in Note 22.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on their contractual obligations 
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to 
factoring receivables, other receivables (included in other assets), financial assets at FVTPL, amounts 
due from related parties and cash and cash equivalents. Details of these financial instruments are 
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies 
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these 
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Except for financial assets at FVTPL, the Group performs impairment assessment for other financial 
assets under ECL model.

The Group applies HKFRS 9 to measure ECL for which uses a 12m ECL for all factoring receivables 
of which the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition. The assessment of 
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk 
of a default occurring since initial recognition.

Traditional factoring business

The Group had concentration of credit risk as 55.2% (2022: 45.6%) of the total factoring receivables 
as at 31st December, 2023 was due from seven (2022: seven) customers from traditional factoring 
business.

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to traditional factoring receivables credit limits and 
credit terms granted to customers are approved by delegated officers and follow-up action is taken 
to recover overdue debts.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding traditional factoring receivables on 
an individual basis to minimise its credit risk. The management has a credit policy in place and the 
exposures to the credit risk are monitored on an ongoing basis. The policy includes evaluation of 
collectability and aging analysis of the factoring receivables based on management’s judgement on 
creditworthiness of the borrowers and the guarantors, collaterals and past collection history.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – CONTINUED

Financial risk management objectives and policies – Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment – Continued

Traditional factoring business – Continued

To measure the ECL, factoring receivables for traditional factoring business with gross amount of 
RMB450,761,000 (2022: RMB375,918,000) have been assessed individually. The credit losses 
expectations are based on the Group’s historical loss experience, collaterals and guarantees that 
are integral to the contractual terms, financial condition of borrowers for the probability of default and 
loss given default, as well as forward-looking information.

Management performs ongoing credit evaluations of individual customers’ financial condition. These 
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payments when due and current ability to 
pay, and take into account information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the economic 
environment. The Group has policies to limit the credit exposure on receivables by taking into account 
the availability of guarantee from third parties and getting payment guarantee. The settlement patterns 
of customers are regularly monitored by the Group. As at 31st December, 2023, the expected loss 
rate for traditional factoring receivables is 0.25% (2022: 0.26%).

Communications factoring business

The Group uses collective assessment in estimating ECL on factoring receivables for communications 
business. The Group takes into consideration of internal credit rating of various debtors, which are 
grouped based on historical collection records, taking into consideration collaterals and forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At the 
end of each reporting period, the historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the 
forward-looking information are considered.

Financial guarantee contracts held by the Group in relation to the communications factoring receivables 
are separately accounted for by the Group. The Group recognised reimbursement asset, when and 
only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount can be measured 
reliably. The amount recognised for the reimbursement is capped at the amount of impairment losses 
recognised under ECL model for the related receivables under such guarantees.

Other receivables (included in other assets)

For other receivables, management makes periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of 
other receivables based on historical settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative and 
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. No allowance 
for impairment was made since the management of the Group considers that the probability of default 
is minimal after considering the counterparties’ repayment history.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – CONTINUED

Financial risk management objectives and policies – Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment – Continued

Amounts due from related parties

The Group has taken into account the economic outlook of the industries in which the related parties 
operate, and concluded that there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. 
No allowance for impairment was made since the management of the Group considers that the 
probability of default is minimal after considering the counterparties’ repayment history.

Cash and cash equivalents

The credit risk on liquid funds (i.e. bank balances) is limited because the majority of the counterparties 
are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies, which is considered 
as of high credit quality by the management, and the probability of default of the counterparty banks is 
insignificant, accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is provided as the amount of ECL is immaterial.

As at 31st December, 2023 and 2022, the Group performed impairment assessment on bank balances 
by reference to the average loss rates for respective credit rating grades published by international 
credit-rating agencies and concluded that the exposure of credit loss is insignificant.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal
credit rating Description

Factoring receivables/
other financial assets   

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not 
 have any past-due amounts

12m ECL

Watch list Debtor frequently settle after due dates 12m ECL

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk 
 since initial recognition through information developed 
 internally or external resources

Lifetime ECL – 
 not credit-impaired

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- impaired Lifetime ECL – 
 credit-impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe 
 financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic 
 prospect of recovery

Amount is written off
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – CONTINUED

Financial risk management objectives and policies – Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment – Continued

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets, which are subject 
to ECL assessment:

Notes
External 
credit rating

Internal 
credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000       

Financial assets at 
 amortised cost

Traditional factoring 
 receivables

16 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 
 (not credit-impaired)

450,761 375,918

       
Communications factoring 
 receivables

16 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 
 (not credit-impaired)

177,292 387,880

Watch list 12m ECL 
 (not credit-impaired)

10,310 15,778

       
Other receivables 
 (included in other assets)

16 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 
 (not credit-impaired)

2,407 2,447

       
Amounts due from 
 related parties

17 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 
 (not credit-impaired)

8,676 7,933

       
Cash and cash equivalents 18 Ba1 to Aa2 Low risk 12m ECL 

 (not credit-impaired)
41,061 26,267
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – CONTINUED

Financial risk management objectives and policies – Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment – Continued

Collective assessment – Communications factoring business

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies collective assessment for its customers 
in relation to its communications factoring business. The following table provides information about the 
exposure to credit risk for communications factoring receivables which are assessed on a collective 
basis with 12m ECL. Debtors with gross carrying amounts under 12m ECL are RMB187,602,000 as 
at 31st December, 2023 (2022: RMB403,658,000).

Gross carrying amount

2023 2022

Internal credit rating
Average
loss rate

Communications
factoring

receivables
Average
loss rate

Communications
factoring

receivables
RMB’000 RMB’000     

Low risk 3.30% 177,292 3.64% 387,880
Watch list 4.41% 10,310 5.10% 15,778     

187,602 403,658
     

Note: For the outstanding balance as at 31st December, 2023 and 2022, the total amount was not past due.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – CONTINUED

Financial risk management objectives and policies – Continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment – Continued

Collective assessment – Communications factoring business – Continued

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates of the debtors and 
are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping 
is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

The movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of factoring receivables during the reporting 
period were as follows:

12m ECL 
(not-credit- 

impaired)
RMB’000  

As at 1st January, 2022 12,953
Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1st January, 2022:
 –  Impairment losses reversed (8,670)
 –  Impairment losses recognised 2,417
New financial assets originated or purchased 9,241  

As at 31st December, 2022 15,941
Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at 1st January, 2023:
 –  Impairment losses reversed (11,079)
 –  Impairment losses recognised 198
New financial assets originated or purchased 2,363  

As at 31st December, 2023 7,423
  

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash 
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate 
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management also monitors the utilisation of borrowings.

The Group relies on amounts due to related parties, bank and other borrowings and obligations arising 
from asset-backed financing arrangements as a significant source of liquidity. Details of which are 
set out in Notes 17, 21 and 22.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The 
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the 
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative 
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – CONTINUED

Financial risk management objectives and policies – Continued

Liquidity risk – Continued

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Liquidity tables

Weighted
average

effective
interest rate

On demand
or less than

1 month
1–3

months
3 months to

1 year
1–5

years

Total
undiscounted

cash flows
Carrying
amounts

% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000        

2023
Non- derivative financial 
 liabilities and lease liabilities
Other payables – 14,325 – – – 14,325 14,325
Amounts due to related companies – 87,584 – – – 87,584 87,584
Amounts due to directors – 227 – – – 227 227
Bank and other borrowings 5.5 – – 50,227 – 50,227 50,000
Obligations arising from 
 asset-backed financing 
 arrangements 6.7 – 26,183 55,834 43,463 125,480 118,585
Dividends payable – 8,896 – – – 8,896 8,896
Lease liabilities 6.1 – 1,035 2,806 67 3,908 3,447        

111,032 27,218 108,867 43,530 290,647 283,064
        

2022
Non- derivative financial 
 liabilities and lease liabilities
Other payables – 11,273 – – – 11,273 11,273
Amounts due to related companies – 72,055 – – – 72,055 72,055
Amounts due to directors – 609 – – – 609 609
Bank and other borrowings 5.2 – 40,280 50,250 – 90,530 90,000
Obligations arising from 
 asset-backed financing 
 arrangements 7.2 – 75,822 164,113 76,664 316,599 278,144
Lease liabilities 6.1 – 188 383 213 784 751        

83,937 116,290 214,746 76,877 491,850 452,832
        

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments is subject to change if interest rates 
differ to those determined at the end of the reporting period.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – CONTINUED

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group determines fair values of various financial assets.

Fair value measurement and valuation process

The financial controller of the Group is responsible to determine the appropriate valuation techniques 
and key inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data to 
the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engaged independent 
qualified professional valuers to perform the valuation. The financial controller works closely with the 
independent qualified professional valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and key 
inputs to the model. Financial controller reports to executive directors semi-annually to explain the 
cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets.

Information about the valuation techniques and key inputs used in determining the fair value of carious 
assets are disclosed below:

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period. The 
following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined (in 
particular, the valuation technique(s) and key inputs used).

Financial assets
Fair value as at 
31st December

Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation technique(s) 
and key input(s) Sensitivity

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000      

Financial assets at FVTPL 41,338 89,752 Level 3 Income approach with 
 key inputs

A significant increase/decrease 
 discount rate adopted would result 
 in a significant decrease/ increase 
 in fair value. No further sensitivity 
 analysis has been disclosed 
 for the impacts of changes in the 
 relevant unobservable inputs as the 
 management considers the 
 exposure is insignificant to the 
 Group. The fair value gain for the 
 year ended 31st December, 2023 
 mainly attributed to the accretion
 discounting effect.

 (i) estimated cash flows
 (ii) discount rate of 
   12.37% (2022: 
   ranging from 13.08% 
   to 17.82%)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at 
fair value on a recurring basis

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally 
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of the financial assets and financial 
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair 
values.
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Non-current assets
 Property, plant and equipment 27 26
 Right-of-use assets 3,187 57
 Investments in subsidiaries 1 1
 Amount due from a subsidiary 375,360 371,968   

378,575 372,052   

Current assets
 Other receivables 53 142
 Amounts due from subsidiaries 935 1,069
 Amounts due from related parties 8,676 7,933
 Bank balances and cash 751 3,603   

10,415 12,747   

Current liabilities
 Other payables and accruals 9,073 8,233
 Lease liabilities 3,178 59
 Amount due to a subsidiary 12,622 –

 Amounts due to related parties 75,151 72,055
 Amounts due to directors 227 223
 Dividends payable 8,896 –   

109,147 80,570   

Net current liabilities (98,732) (67,823)   

Total assets less current liabilities 279,843 304,229
   

Capital and reserves
 Share capital 105,965 105,965
 Reserves 173,818 198,264   

279,783 304,229   

Non-current liabilities
 Lease liabilities 60 –   

279,843 304,229
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY – 
CONTINUED

Movement in the Company’s capital and reserves:

Share
capital

Share
premium

Contributed
surplus

Capital
contribution

Accumulated
losses Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note ii) (Notes i and ii) (Note iii)       

At 1st January, 2022 105,965 967,576 231,749 18,813 (1,024,742) 299,361
Profit for the year – – – – 4,868 4,868       

At 31st December, 2022 105,965 967,576 231,749 18,813 (1,019,874) 304,229
Special dividends 
 declared – (8,896) – – – (8,896)
Loss for the year – – – – (15,550) (15,550)       

At 31st December, 2023 105,965 958,680 231,749 18,813 (1,035,424) 279,783
       

Notes:

(i) The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between the aggregate net assets of the subsidiaries 
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation in 2001 over the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued 
for the acquisition.

(ii) Pursuant to the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account and the contributed 
surplus are distributable to the shareholders of the Company, provided that immediately following the date on which the 
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in 
the ordinary course of business.

(iii) The capital contribution represents deemed contributions from the ultimate parent and a shareholder arising from certain 
transactions with the Company in prior years.
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Year ended 31st December, 
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

Revenue 64,354 47,658 58,292 102,618 88,487
      

Profit for the year attributable to:
 Owners of the Company 30,177 10,499 15,114 30,543 15,192
      

As at 31st December, 
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

Assets and liabilities
 Total assets 754,220 770,994 707,743 905,122 734,219
 Total liabilities (384,974) (391,249) (312,884) (479,720) (302,521)      

369,246 379,745 394,859 425,402 431,698
      

Equity attributable to owners 
 of the Company 369,246 379,745 394,859 425,402 431,698
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